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“TTAENRTER ZZ-—Z ﬁnﬂ+tai 2.6 2,000,000 - = 2,000,000
—E-WEAAFAH
ERe - - - - - -
KER “TZNE-AANA —*fmﬁnﬁ BZE 0.8 4,000,000 = - 4,000,000
“ZTNENAZRA F— 2.1 4,000,000 - - 4,000,000
“E-MENAZA
Hek “ZZNENAZRA —Z——%®)\f=AZ 21 4,000,000 - - 4,000,000
T-MENAZR
BEE “ZZNENAZRA “Z——F)\A=ZRZE 2.1 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000
—Z-MENAZA
=% “ZZNENAZRA “Z——F)\A=ZAZE 2.1 3,000,000 3,000,000
“Z-MENAZA
P K JAN = = = = = - -
XEE - - - - - - -
Mulham AL-JARF - = = = = = =
HIE —TENENAZH —T——%\fZHE 2.1 3,000,000 - = 3,000,000
“E-MENA-H
Edat | —“TENENRZH —T——%\fZHE 2.1 3,000,000 = 3,000,000
“E-mENAZA
BEM —TENENAZH —Z——%)\fZHE 2.1 3,000,000 - = 3,000,000
“E-mENAZA
IME(NE1) —TTME-FAR “ZENENA—HEZ 0.8 5,000,000 - (5,000,000) =
—E-ME-ANR (HzE1)
—EERFE+ARA “EEME+-A-+=H 071 130,000,000 - (180,000,000) =
Z-Z-ME+ARA (HzE1)
—EENENAZA “ZEAENB=HE 2.1 100,000,000 - (100,000,000} =
“E-NENAZA (HzE1)
TNE(B2) - - - - - - -
RE(MF2) - - - - - - =
g 273,000,000 - (235,000,000) 38,000,000
HfEES
2)PE (1) —EEmE-AAA —ZEMEAR—RAZE 0.8 - - 5,000,000 5,000,000
—T-ME-ANA (HizE1)
“EEMETARE . ZETEFT-A-TZHE 071 - - 130,000,000 130,000,000
—T-ME+AEA (HizE1)
“TEAENAZH —ZEENENRZRE 2.1 = - 100,000,000 100,000,000
“E-NENAZAH (HizE1)
U - - 235,000,000 235,000,000
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BZ 2
R-E--% —E-Cf —8--F  PZB--E
mA-H Z=A=t+-HALt =BA=1-HL =A=t-H
THE ZHEATE  BRERAN  HEEEEER ZERTE

% BHAM T (A7) BRE#E BREZE BEREHS BREZHE
HitEs —ZZRE-ANA —ZTNENA-AZE 08 2,910,000 - 2,910,000
~E-BE-ANR
“TZNE+ARA “EERF=A-tHZ
—F-NF+AAA 0.71 34,000,000 (300,000) 38,700,000
“ZERETATA —E-EE+A-tHE
ZZ-nE+ATAR 15 124,000,000 (5,200,000) - 118,800,000
“EEXF-A-F+tH —E——F-A-ttHZE
ZE-NE-AZtAE 182 6,500,000 - 6,500,000
“ZZNEN\A=A “ZENENAZRE
—“Z-NENAZH 2.1 100,000,000 - - 100,000,000
“TENENAZRA “F-_#)\A=HZE
:2 mENAZR 2.1 53,394,000 (6,090,000) 47,304,000
“EENENATER  ZEEAETRTEAZE
“E-REAATAE 2.6 1,500,000 (500,000) = 1,000,000
“ETNEAATER  ZE-ZEAATERZE
iz MEAATAA 2.6 3,000,000 (500,000) 2,500,000
gt 325,304,000 (12,590,000) - 312,714,000
o 598,304,000 (12,590,000) - 585,714,000
Bt 55
1. BEARZT——FHNAZ+NARTHRERE &

WRERRREERA -

2. RZZB——F=ZAZTHMA  FEERBRELESR?T
ERAERSEE A ZBREERITEE B TERSE
BoN) o RARBRBAAEAMBERE(BBRITEE
CARTERE)EFRARBEENR _T——F=H
“HOAEBITEEREN D AR FTRERREL
WEARTERESBZBBRE - FRERKEET
BB R 2 R IE IR ZOEBE af i » FRAERFERLER
TE-—FOAZTARARTHRERGE LRREEAR
REEERAL -
B EXPESN  BIEBRENBE_T——F=ZA=1—
BILFEERE - 1T -
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TERRRAEMALTRAQFRORAEABRK
1z

R-F——#=ZA=+—8 RESXRBEEHIE6H
BFHENEEMALERARAAREZER - RADAR
1A RARBR D PR 25 2 R R (A A R EFRTRARRIL)
LAl

FERRRERTARGD 2HFR

EEER BERBATE I

58 %) BHOEHE HIEE A D (%)

2R ¥E BB ARZIEH AR 2 808,102,000 18.43
(B5E1 K2 4)

Joint Coast Alliance Markst Sk UNCId - £ 419,478,000 9.57
Development Limited (B$3E1)

China Gas Group Limited BEaEE AR —BITEMAL 443,940,000 10.13
(MtsE2 R 4)

S 33 58 Sk NGl - £ 443,940,000 10.13
(B$5E3)

Fortune Max Holdings Limited EnlEBEAR—BITEHAL 443,940,000 10.13
(KizEa R 4)

First Level Holdings Limited Sk UNCId - £ 443,940,000 10.13
(B$5E3)
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ok
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B
Iiff
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BERER FRENB DL

28 54 BRBEE HEMEE D (%)
Fortune Oil PLC gk NG £ 443,940,000 10.13
(K$3E3)
CHEY Taewon g 2 NG 3 441,069,000 10.06
(KizE5R%6)
SK C&C Co., Ltd gk NI 441,069,000 10.06
(M= X%6)
SK Holdings Co., Ltd S | NI 3 441,069,000 10.06
(KizE5R%6)
SK E&S Co., Ltd BEnlEE ARZES AT 2 EwS 441,069,000 10.06
(KM= X%6)
Oman Oil Company S.A.O.C. EmEA A 237,567,060 5.42
B 5 b) Joint Coast Alliancei? & MRCGGLE = # & 2
1. IREBEREELE(TBIE4E]) Rdoint Coast Alliance Market 419,478,000/ B 15  #E A # 2 ©
Development Limited ([Joint Coast Alliance)IA=ZF— 2. RECCGGLRZZ——F_A -+ /\BHFIEZEXVIX

ZHE=ZRNBERESFREEEOIEXVIBTE 2 R ([EXV
BERB]) BHE-_ET——F=AHA:
a) BIELEERAENS H£808,102,0000 MDA A xS
B
) B EXEAE 23886240008 X 3( & &
235,000,000l D EZE BT E T AEZR
a) K&
i) fChina Gas Group Limited (CGGL]) & %%
% B 24190,478,0008% B 19 - CGGLHJoint
Coast Alliance#HB50.00%# %% MJoint Coast
Allance BB A2 EHR &k

/A

Bl

60 TEMEZEREEAT

1%

HE-_ZT——F_-_A-+=H CGCLRANA K

443,940,000 DA #EE - 815 -

a)
b)

HCGCLE=#AE 2419,478,000M M1 + &
CCGCLE BIRE FE F & B & K H F317(1)(a) 5 8
Fortune Max Holdings Limited ([ Fortune Max])&] 32
2 — W ER24,462,000 DB o (B H
Fortune MaxzE 1B &M T XX HIzES °)



IRIE S E R S 4 ([ERSE 4 |) ~ First Level Holdings Limited
([First Levell) » Fortune Oil PLCKFortune MaxiR ==&
—ZHF A+ NBHEREZEXNVEERE  BHEZT—Z=F
ZAZ+=8 " %4  First Level » Fortune Oil PLCK
Fortune Max¥ 18 &R & $£443,940,0000% i% 15 # & 4
o B
a) MCGGLE X # A 2419,478,000k B - B E &
H ' CGGLHFortune Oil PRC Holdings LimitedZ®
BB (HE% 2 FEKRWPFortune Oil PRC Holdings
Limited RCGGLZ # % It 1% 7 £50.00% ) ° Fortune
Oil PRC Holdings LimitedfFortune Oil PLCE & #
A& ° Fortune Oil PLCHFirst Level#B36.51% %
MFirst Level BB EHBOO%BER + &

b) Fortune MaxE#m#E A 224,462,00008/% 1% ° Fortune
MaxEB BB L2 EHEE o LLIN - Fortune MaxfF1g 2
EXVE R R E BAFortune Maxi® B2 B 5 M B & 1501
E317(N)(@)IRET L2 —HMHEMNCCOLERER 2
419,478,000 IR th P HE B % -

RIER XKt - 2R3FTit EXVEP R I 1& - BlE £ -

CGGLEKFortune MaxiR KA Bl U BE K & OF <7 RIAR R 228 &

BERZETFHRBETRA20%K%E]) - BER=_FT—Z_FMA

ZHGEREZRA2RE  BEZT——F=A=1+H":

a) Bl % 4 ¥ 51536240000 B H Kk AT R B
235,000,000/ Bk 17 2 FE AR #E

a) MSK EQSEZ#EHE 368,061,000/ 815 » SK E&S
FISK Holdings# B 94.13%# % - SK HoldingsASK
C&C, Ltd#EE36.92%# % + MSK C&C, LtdAChey
SHEFEHA0.00% R+ K&

b) EPusan City Gas Co., Ltd¥A 273,008,0008% %
3 Pusan City Gas Co., LtdfESK E&SHEH43.99%
M e

RIER E XM FESATil EXVER &R B 1% - SK E&SIER & T 10

RAC2KE c RERZZT—ZF A=+ NLBHFEZRA

20K BEZT——HF-_A=-+N\H:

a) SK E&S#AE475,111,00008%1% + &

b) HSK E&SFTAl * SK Gas Co., Ltd ([SK Gasl) &
F5H196,919,0000& & 5 - SK Gas/&SK Chemicals
Ltd ([SK Chemicals] - BB BEAHX B LT A
AzMEBAR BE_ZE——F+ZA=+—8"
SK ChemicalsZ & — & K IR B AChey Changwon
FoH o BRChey TaewonmSK ChemicalsZ B E X
RERMDFHEES 1% (EEBITHERER0.4%)
Chey Taewon?%t 4 B E AT iE &l 2 £ /] 2 7] 39 & 5%
SK ChemicalsstSK Gas# B @ # z= + B(i)Chey
Taewon%t A 8t SK E&SEE(ii) SK Chemicals * SK Gas
sk Chey Changwont 4 2 IR EERT S A ] IE X8k FEIE
XA 1B S8 = 8 LA B S ol 32 [E AR 10 458 il 4 o

b) CGCGLFH419,478 0001 : bR EXFIEZREN RZE—ZF=A=+—8 ' &ZARQF
c) Fortune Max#&52,334,0000 815 : & RIEZEHRAEKRMESS6HKE TEFHELMAALEE - #
d) %4 - CGGLKFortune MaxB B & R UL B RTES EAMEMAT(RRAFRESHITREHBINFEERARFR
BESERG 2& THEF - M ARBR D 2 EmSA R -

RIEChey Taewonst 4 ([Cheyst 4 ]) + SK C&C Co., Ltd

(I'sk c&CJ) ~ SK Holdings Co., Ltd (' SK Holdings ) ¥

SK E&S Co., Ltd ([SK E&S)) R =E—=F—H=+—H

T ZEXVERE * Cheyft & + SK C&C * SK Holdings

KSK E&SHE AR E 441,069,000 D HEH S -

B -
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Deloitte.
=£)

TO THE MEMBERS OF CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Gas Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
‘Group”) set out on pages 3 to 162, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at March 31, 2012, and the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. We conducted
our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

HHERRERERARILRR
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RIZBENITE TR BEZESE162EEH P BMAR
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’'s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group as at March 31, 2012, and of the
Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared
in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

June 28, 2012
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

REEEBRARR

For the year ended March 31, 2012 B Z - F——F=H=+—HIFE

2012 2011
—E——fF T ——%F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BfsE FET FH&T
Revenue ON 7 18,933,565 15,861,880
Cost of sales SHE AR (15,327,831) (12,951,408)
Gross profit EF 3,605,734 2.910,472
Other income HAb YA 9 384,018 236,937
Other gains and losses H b zs M EsiE 10 132,427 93,230
Selling and distrioution costs SHE R SR A (733,202) (600,495)
Administrative expenses THRAX (938,922) (923,933)
Finance costs B8R 11 (916,045) (635,029)
Share of results of associates FEIEEE N A 2 ¥4 21 86,408 15,856
Profit before taxation R 50 A& A 1,620,418 1,097,038
Taxation HIE 12 (478,502) (315,716)
Profit for the year F & A 13 1,141,916 781,322
Other comprehensive income Hh2mBA
(Decrease) increase in fair AEfHEREATE
value on available-for-sale ORi) 188 n
investments (6,854) 2,678
Exchange differences arising MEEEZIERZT
on translation 136,640 262,444
Other comprehensive income FEEMEEIRA
for the year 129,786 265,122
Total comprehensive income FE2EMBALE
for the year 1,271,702 1,046,444
Profit for the year attributable to: FERMGES
Owners of the Company AAREAA 953,926 625,896
Non-controlling interests IEPE R 187,990 155,426
1,141,916 781,322
Total comprehensive income FHEBABTERES -
attributable to:
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIE PN 1,058,328 821,928
Non-controlling interests eI i 213,374 224,516
1,271,702 1,046,444
Earnings per share R AR 17
Basic HA HK21.76 cents 71l HK16.31 cents Al
Diluted e HK20.55 cents 71l HK14.60 cents A1l
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At March 31, 2012 R=F——F=H=+—H

Non-current assets

Investment properties

Property, plant and equipment

Prepaid lease payments

Investments in associates

Available-for-sale investments

Goodwill

Other intangible assets

Deposits for acquisition of
property, plant and equipment

Amount due from an associate

Deposit for acquisition of an
associate

Deferred tax assets

Current assets
Inventories
Amounts due from customers
for contract work
Trade and other receivables

Amounts due from associates
Prepaid lease payments
Held-for-trading investments
Pledged bank deposits

Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

Derivative financial instruments

Amounts due to customers
for contract work

Taxation

Amounts due to associates

Amount due to a non-controlling
interest of a subsidiary

Bank and other borrowings —
due within one year

Net current liabilities

Total assets less current liabilities

FRBEE
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YE N VEN G
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AHEERE
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CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED A BIA FIE R A BR A A)

Notes

B aE

18
19
20
21
23
24
26

27

40

28

29
30

27
20
31

32
32

33

34

29

27

35

36

—E——%F
HK$'000
&
(restated)

(&%)

408,135
13,799,669
1,128,929
1,009,505
85,884
1,635,326
1,444,208

600,040
163,166

133,627
91,466
20,399,955

1,076,625

166,884
2,388,040

92,115
34,283
11,948

1,647,444

5,081,589

10,498,828
4,603,034
32,122
285,728
149,692
13,254

5,042

7,312,837
12,301,609
(1,802,781)
18,597,174



At March 31, 2012 R=F——F=H=+—H

Equity
Share capital
Reserves

Equity attributable to owners
of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Total equity

Non-current liabilities
Bank and other borrowings —
due after one year
Convertible bonds
Deferred tax liabilities

Notes
BT
M
&N 37
B
EBARREA A
T
FEFERR
SRR
JEmEaE
ﬁﬂ&E@%E
—F 1B 5 36
@&ﬁ% 39
EERIBAEE 40

The consolidated financial statements on pages 3 to 162 were approved
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on June 28, 2012 and

are signed on its behalf by:

LEUNG Wing Cheong, Eric
RKE
Joint Managing Director

B JE B F AR TE

¥8EZE

—E——%F
HK$'000
&
(restated)

(&%)

43,831
8,720,845

8,764,676
1,675,102

10,339,778

7,720,327

537,069

8,257,396

18,697,174

1A A MBRRCAESTEN

—ZHFRNAZ TN\ R RIS TEEEET§|J§$
HERFEE

PANG Ying Xue

BExEZ

Jo/nt Managing Director

B F ARSI

B35 3% 45 FINANCIAL REPORT 2012



For the year ended March 31, 2012 #Z =

Ao 1,2010

Other compreensiie
ncome for e year
Proft for the year

Totd comprehengive
ncome for the year

Recognifon of equiy-

Seffled share-based
payments

Transfer to accumuiated profts
Upon cancelltion
of shere options

Bxercise of shae options

Issue of new ordnary Shares

Acquistions of subsidries

Acquisttons of additonal
interest of sUbsicaries
[note 41B)

Transfer to accumulated profis
upon disposal of a jontly
confolled enty

Disposal of a subsidary
note 431i)

Shares issued as consideraton
for acquistion of a
business (note 428

Captal contribution from
nion-confollng inlerests
of subsilaries

Commitment to acquire a
non-contoling inferest
note 41(AJ1)

Dividends peld by subsidlares
10 non-confoling inerests

Dhicends paid

Trnsler

Atharch 31, 2017 (restatec)

R-E-5EEA-1
ERRpRENA

Sy
SRRESE

BARAEN 20
ERES

i
i

e

Fiifies N

WEnELT

WERBLAE ER
WE4 (B};

ﬁﬁuﬂﬂf

FEE

HERBAT R

EiholEleEs
RE(KR428M)

HEATHERERE

WEsHER B
(k4w
DGl e
ERIRE
Bffika

£

RoE—E=A=1-A (8]l

E_—f-F=+—HIFE

Share
capital

e
HK000
TEL

33610

1219
1186

43831

Attributable to owners of the Company

SEADARAA
Employee
share-hased Investment  Properties
Share compensation Translation revaluation revaluation  Special
premium  reseve  reserve  reserve  reseve  reserve
D b S
ROEE #MEE EXEE EMRE EMBE  GORE
HG000  HKBOO0  HKSOO0  HKBOO0  HKBOD  HKS000
Ten T TR TEL TEL TEn
ol 38 fnote 3G note )
(W) (i) ()
1980014 89184 277660 798 1601 1602
- - 1933 2678 - -
- - 183 2678 - -
- 30 - - - -
S AR - - - -
128791 B464) - - - -
3083387 - - - - -
- - B - - -
692,99 - - - - -
5800011 19107 467775 1063 1601 1602
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Capital ~ Statutory Accumulated
reserve funds ~profits
EAfE  tREe  RitEA
HS000  HKBOO0  HKS000
Tén T T
[note )
()
- 1B 1518261
- - 258%
- - 658%
- - um
{#351) - -
- - 324
- - o)
- T3 (1337
[@3511) 291502 2047062

Total

i
HKS000
i

4123022

196,062
£25,6%

821,98

37500

121,606
3070523

694,68

1077

8,764,676

Non-
controlling
interests
EN
B
HKS000
TR

63,000
190428

24516

31477

14363

(3448)

241

(36,090)

(10607

1575102

Total

i
HKB000
i

0230287

1046444

37500

121,606
30705623
31471

29159

B44)

604,68

2411

(38,09)

(106,607)

61077

10339778
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Attributable to owners of the Company

BRALTEEA

Employee
share-hased

Investment - Properties

Share Share compensation Translation revaluation - revaluation
capitl  premium  reserve  resevve  reserve  reserve
L B& {H
Rt BbEE EHEE ENRE  EMBR  EGER
HKG000  HKBOOD  HKBOOD  HKBODD  HKSO0D  HKG000
Tén  TAr TR TER TET TiEn
ol 38 fnote 3G
(W) (i)
At 1, 2011 festate) RZE--£mA-A(ES) 083 BBOTT TOI0T TS 106% 1601
Otercomprerensie ncome. - ERAH2ARA
forthe year - - - M2 (68 -
Proftfor e year ERAA - - - - - -
Tota comprehensie income ERRENNEE
- - - 1M 68 -
Recogrion of euiy-seted BREREAN 2B
hare-based payments ERES - - 1945 - - -
Tensfer o aocumted pofis upon B B AZEER)
cancelaton of share options - - [£425) - - -
Roquiston of a subsidary WEHER (Hiaon)
[nots 4204 - - - - - -
Reouistons of adoforal st AENBAREINER
of subsidries (ote 41[4) (Htstam) - - - - - -
Disposal of a suosiday (ote 431 HERBAR(HsE2s) - - - - - -
Deemed dsposd ofa RIFHENBRR ()
subsidary (nofe 44) - - - - - -
Tenster o acoumueied pofis upon REERERBATRER
deemed dsposel of asubsiay  Z AR - - - (51 - -
Captel conttution fomnon-+—~—— WBAAZEARIERHE
confollng nterests of subsidiary - - - - - -
Dhicends pald by subsders — WBAARMHRER
{o non-controlng nerests g - - - - - -
Dividends pad EffRE - - - - - -
Tensler & - - - - - -
At Mach 31, 2012 R-E-26Zf=1-A T oA T T TR T R Y/ AN 1
Notes: L}
(i) The special reserve of the Group represents the difference between the ()
nominal value of the shares of the acquired subsidiaries and the nominal
value of the Company’s shares issued for the acquisition at the time of
the group reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s shares in
1995.
(ii) In accordance with statutory requirements in the People’s Republic of (i)

China, other than Hong Kong (the “PRC”), subsidiaries registered in
the PRC are required to transfer a certain percentage of the annual net
income from accumulated profits to the statutory funds, until the statutory
funds is accumulated up to 50% of its registered capital. Under normal
circumstances, the statutory funds is not allowed to be distributed to
the subsidiary’s shareholders as dividends. The statutory funds shall only
be used for making good losses, capitalisation into paid-in capital and
expansion of its productions and operations.

Non-
Special ~ Capital ~ Statutory Accumulated controlling
reseve  resenve funds ~profits Total  interests Total
$2R
KHRE EARE feEe TR & 0 BE &
HGO00  HKPOOD  HKSOO0  HKS000  HKBOOD  HKB000  HKSOOD0
Ten  TE TR TR TR TR TEn
note ) [note )
k)] ()
1600 W3p11) 291502 2047082 8764676 1675102 10339778
- - - - 10442 B34 129786
- - - W96 ®3W6 187900 1141916
- - - W396 10838 213314 1271702
- - - - 1946 - 19406
- - - 44% - - -
- - - - - 4089 4089
- 18M - - T36TT (A1I%) [167.463)
_ - - - - (606) (606)
- - - - - M3159)  M3159)
- - - U - - -
- - - - - RNy R
- - - - - (123104 (123104)
- - - 630 (63%) - [%3%)
- - 16514 (76574 - - -
162 30160 368076 285692 981968 1,006,777 10876462

REE 2B RIRETIEAR A FTUEENE R A
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SEEEAMMETRBMBETROEAEZE
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OPERATING ACTIMITIES
Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:
Allowance for trade receivables
Change in fair value of
investment properties

E——FZA=1—HALEE

REEY

BR 7% ALt A
RRUATEREE -

= S AGR B E
REMEZATEED

Change in fair value of held-for-trading BIEEEREZATFEE

investments
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Release of prepaid lease payments
Amortisation of intangible assets
Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment and
prepaid lease payments
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary
Loss on deemed disposal
of a subsidiary
Gain on deemed disposals
of an associate
Loss on disposal of available-for-sale
investments
Loss on dissolution of a jointly
controlled entity
Gain on disposal of an associate
Interest expense
Share of results of associates
Share-based payments
Interest income
Change in fair value of derivative
financial instruments
Gain on redemption of
convertible bonds

Operating cash flows before
movements in working capital
Increase in inventories
Increase in amounts due from
customers for contract work
Increase in trade and other receivables
Decrease (increase) in amounts
due from associates
Increase in trade and other payables
(Decrease) increase in amounts
due to customers for contract work
Increase (decrease) in amounts
due to non-controlling
interests of subsidiaries
Increase (decrease) in amounts
due to shareholders of jointly
controlled entities

Cash from operations
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid

NET CASH GENERATED FROM
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
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2011

—T——F

HK$000
FAT
1,097,038
7383
(47,057)
3,620
598,992

43,771
48,974

12,603

2,042
932
(753)
635,029
(15,856)
37,500
(58,604)
46,083

(1,814)

2,409,783
(419,221)

(42,772)
(263,058)

(24,863)
747,792

17,530
(763)

(6,912)

2,418,616
(338,438)

2,080,078
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INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received
Repayment from associates
Advance to associates
Deposits paid for acquisition of
property, plant and equipment
Placement of pledged bank deposits
Release of pledged bank deposits
Addition of investment properties
Addition of property, plant and equipment
Addition of prepaid lease payments
Addition of available-for-sale investments
Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment and prepaid
lease payment
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale
investments
Disposal of associates
Acquisition of businesses, net of
cash and cash equivalents acquired
Disposal of a subsidiary
Deemed disposal of a subsidiary
Disposal of jointly controlled entities,
net of cash and cash
equivalents received
Addition of investments in associates
Deposit for acquisition of an associate
Capital injection into an associate
Repayment from non-controlling
interests of subsidiaries
Advance to non-controlling
interests of subsidiaries
Repayment from shareholders
of jointly controlled entities
Advance to shareholders of
jointly controlled entities
Settlement of obligation on capital
injection to a jointly controlled entity
by other shareholder of the
jointly controlled entity
Dividend paid by an associate
Settlement of deferred consideration
in respect of prior year's acquisition
of subsidiaries

NET CASH USED IN
INVESTING ACTMITIES

Notes

Bt

RETEH
BRI
R A TENR
AEE N RIEE 2 33K
Wi - BERERE
[RAREER
EEMRTERLH
BRIRERMRITEN
//J\ETX%%%
REME f%& 518
REEMNBER
//J\E—H ﬁE$X§
HEME - BB RRE
RIENEERE
PG A
HE T S A SRR

kN 21
TS - MBRFTRRE

MIRe%EEER 42
HEHBAQTF 43
BIEHEWBAD 44
HEH H%ﬂaﬁ ks

FiieRe kIR SEBE

45

NERBERRIZRE
WL AR 2 iRE

mBENRTE
B AR IR iR

(e f 8 X ) FE R R
R 2 B3R
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ﬂiﬁ%ﬂ% BRCRIES
R KRR BB AR
MARESGERTEAE

BENRENES
HEETFRRNELRZ
EEAE
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2011
—T——F
HK$'000
FAT

58,604
79,070
(163,528)

(410,900)
(2,896,689
1,806,575
(2,220)
(1,780,605
(156,911)
(3,743)

21,127

7,148
12,432

172,061
(2,086)

(121)
(47,619)
(133,627)

193,727
(61,614)
22,145

(146,544)

(78,161)

(3,610,879
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FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Interest paid
Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares
Dividends paid
New bank and other borrowings raised
Repayments of bank and
other borrowings
Advance from shareholders of jointly
controlled entities
Repayment to shareholders of jointly
controlled entities
Advance from non-controlling
interests of subsidiaries
Repayment to non-controlling
interests of subsidiaries
Repayment to associates
Acquisition of additional interests
in subsidiaries
Capital contribution from
non-controlling interests of subsidiaries
Dividend paid by subsidiaries to
non-controlling interests
Redemption of convertible bonds

NET CASH (USED IN) GENERATED
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR

EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE
RATE CHANGES

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF THE YEAR

ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Bank balances and cash
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Note
=

41

2011
—T——F
HK$'000
FAT
(626,880)
3,192,129
(61,077)
7,496,644
(6,804,496)
7,731
(9,796)
48,215

(386,303)
(11,212)

(22,988)
2,411

(106,607)
(143,828)

2,673,943

1,143,142

3,872,316

66,131

5,081,589

5,081,589
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The Company is incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company
with limited liability and its shares are listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The address of its registered office and principal place of business
are disclosed in the section headed “Corporate Information” of the
Group’s annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities
of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 54.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars ("HK$") and the functional currency of the Company and its
subsidiaries is Renminbi (‘RMB”). As the Company is a listed entity in
Hong Kong, the directors of the Company consider that it is appropriate
to present the consolidated financial statements in HK$.

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and
revised Standards, Amendments and Interpretations (“‘new and revised
HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA”).
Amendments to HKFRSs Improvements to HKFRSs
issued in 2010
HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009) Related party disclosures
Amendments to HK(FRIC) — Prepayments of a minimum
INT 14 funding requirement
HK(FRIC) — INT 19 Extinguishing financial liabilities
with equity instruments

The application of the new and revised HKFRSs in the current year
has had no material effect on the Group’s financial performance and
positions for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set
out in these consolidated financial statements.
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The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
Standards, Amendments or Interpretations that have been issued but

are not yet effective.

Amendments to HKFRSs

Amendments to HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

HKFRS 9
HKFRS 10

HKFRS 11
HKFRS 12

HKFRS 13
Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 12

HKAS 19 (Revised 2011)

HKAS 27 (Revised 2011)

HKAS 28 (Revised 2011)

Amendments to HKAS 32

HK(FRIC) — INT 20

Annual improvement to HKFRSs
2009-2011 cycle!

Disclosures — Transfers of
financial assets?

Disclosures — Offsetting financial
assets and financial liabilities'

Mandatory effective date of
HKFRS 9 and transition
disclosures®

Financial instruments®

Consolidated financial
statements’

Joint arrangements’

Disclosure of interests in
other entities’

Fair value measurement’

Presentation of items of other
comprehensive income®

Deferred tax: Recovery of
underlying assets*

Employee benefits’

Separate financial statements'

Investments in associates and
joint ventures'

Offsetting financial assets and
financial liabilities®

Stripping costs in the production
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phase of a surface mine’

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2011,
s Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2012.
o Effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2012,
6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014.
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HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduces new requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial assets. HKFRS 9
amended in 2010 includes the requirements for the classification and
measurement of financial liabilities and for derecognition.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 are described as follows:

HKFRS 9 requires all recognised financial assets that are within
the scope of HKAS 39 “Financial instruments: Recognition and
measurement” to be subsequently measured at amortised cost or
fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are held within a business
model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and
that have contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal outstanding are generally measured at
amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting periods. All
other debt investments and equity investments are measured at their
fair values at the end of subsequent reporting periods. In addition,
under HKFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable election to present
subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity investment (that is
not held for trading) in other comprehensive income, with only dividend
income generally recognised in profit or loss.

The most significant effect of HKFRS 9 regarding the classification
and measurement of financial liabilities relates to the presentation of
changes in the fair value of a financial liability (designated as at fair
value through profit or loss) attributable to changes in the credit risk of
that liability. Specifically, under HKFRS 9, for financial liabilities that are
designated as at fair value through profit or loss, the amount of change
in the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to changes
in the credit risk of that liability is presented in other comprehensive
income, unless the recognition of the effects of changes in the liability’s
credit risk in other comprehensive income would create or enlarge an
accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair value attributable
to a financial liability’s credit risk are not subsequently reclassified to
profit or loss. Previously, under HKAS 39, the entire amount of the
change in the fair value of the financial liability designated as at fair
value through profit or loss was presented in profit or loss.
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The directors of the Company anticipate that the adoption of HKFRS
9 in the future will affect the classification and measurement in respect
of the Group’s available-for-sale investments and other financial assets
but not on the Group’s financial liabilities. However, it is not practicable
to provide a reasonable estimate of that effect until a detailed review
has been completed.

In June 2011, a package of five standards on consolidation, joint
arrangements, associates and disclosures was issued, including
HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11, HKFRS 12, HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011)
and HKAS 28 (as revised in 2011).

Key requirements of these five standards are described below.

HKFRS 10 replaces the parts of HKAS 27 "Consolidated and separate
financial statements” that deal with consolidated financial statements
and HK(SIC) — INT 12 “Consolidation — Special purpose entities”.
HKFRS 10 includes a new definition of control that contains three
elements: (a) power over an investee, (b) exposure, or rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee, and (c) the ability to
use its power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor's
returns. Extensive guidance has been added in HKFRS 10 to deal
with complex scenarios.

HKFRS 11 replaces HKAS 31 “Interests in joint ventures” and HK(SIC) —
INT 13 “Jointly controlled entities — Non-monetary contributions by
venturers”. HKFRS 11 deals with how a joint arrangement of which
two or more parties have joint control should be classified. Under
HKFRS 11, joint arrangements are classified as joint operations or
joint ventures, depending on the rights and obligations of the parties
to the arrangements.

In contrast, under HKAS 31, there are three types of joint arrangements:
jointly controlled entities, jointly controlled assets and jointly controlled
operations.
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In addition, joint ventures under HKFRS 11 are required to be accounted
for using the equity method of accounting, whereas jointly controlled
entities under HKAS 31 can be accounted for using the equity method
of accounting or proportionate accounting.

The application of HKFRS11 will result in changes in the accounting
of the Group’s jointly controlled entities that are currently accounted
for using proportionate consolidation. Under HKFRS 11, those jointly
controlled entities will be classified as a joint operations or joint venture,
depending on the rights and obligations of the parties to the joint
arrangement. However, the directors have not yet performed a detailed
analysis of the impact of the application of these standards and hence
have not yet quantified the extent of the impact.

HKFRS 12 is a disclosure standard and is applicable to entities
that have interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates
and/or unconsolidated structured entities. In general, the disclosure
requirements in HKFRS 12 are more extensive than those in the current
standards.

These five standards are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after January 1, 2013. Earlier application is permitted provided that all
of these five standards are applied early at the same time.

The directors of the Company anticipate that these standards will be
adopted in the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the annual
period beginning April 1, 2013. The application of these five standards
may have significant impact on amounts reported in the consolidated
financial statements. However, the directors have not yet performed
a detailed analysis of the impact of the application of these standards
and hence have not yet quantified the extent of the impact.
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HKFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance for fair value
measurements and disclosures about fair value measurements. The
Standard defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring
fair value, and requires disclosures about fair value measurements.
The scope of HKFRS 183 is broad and it applies to both financial
instrument items and non-financial instrument items for which other
HKFRSs require or permit fair value measurements and disclosures
about fair value measurements, except in specified circumstances. In
general, the disclosure requirements in HKFRS 13 are more extensive
than those in the current standards. For example, quantitative and
qualitative disclosures based on the three-level fair value hierarchy
currently required for financial instruments only under HKFRS 7
“Financial instruments: Disclosures” will be extended by HKFRS 13
to cover all assets and liabilities within its scope.

HKFRS 13 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January
1, 2013, with earlier application permitted.

The directors of the Company anticipate that HKFRS 13 will be adopted
in the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the annual period
beginning April 1, 2013 and that the application of the new standard
may affect the amounts reported in the Group's consolidated financial
statements and result in more extensive disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements.

The amendments to HKAS 1 retain the option to present profit or loss
and other comprehensive income in either a single statement or in
two separate but consecutive statements. However, the amendments
to HKAS 1 require additional disclosures to be made in the other
comprehensive income section such that items of other comprehensive
income are grouped into two categories: (a) items that will not be
reclassified subsequently to profit or loss; and (b) items that may be
reclassified subsequently to profit or loss when specific conditions are
met. Income tax on items of other comprehensive income is required
to be allocated on the same basis.

The amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after July 1, 2012. The presentation of items of
other comprehensive income will be modified accordingly when the
amendments are applied in the future accounting periods.
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The amendments to HKAS 12 provide an exception to the general
principles in HKAS 12 that the measurement of deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities should reflect the tax consequences that
would follow from the manner in which the entity expects to recover
the carrying amount of an asset. Specifically, under the amendments,
investment properties that are measured using the fair value model in
accordance with HKAS 40 “Investment property” are presumed to be
recovered through sale for the purposes of measuring deferred taxes,
unless the presumption is rebutted in certain circumstances.

The amendments to HKAS 12 are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2012. The directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of the amendments to HKAS 12 in future
accounting periods will have no material impact on the result and the
financial position of the Group.

Other than as described above, the directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of the other new or revised Standards,
Amendments or Interpretations will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for investment properties and certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair values, as explained in
the accounting policies set out below. Historical cost is generally based
on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
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The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
(its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the Company has the
power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so
as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year
are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
from the effective date of acquisition and up to the effective date of
disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with those
used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately from
the Group’s equity therein.

Allocation of total comprehensive income to non-
controlling interests

Total comprehensive income and expense of a subsidiary is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even
if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance
(effective from April 1, 2010 onwards).
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Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries on or after April 1, 2010

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to
reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests
are adjusted (the carrying amount of the net assets attributable to
non-controlling interests) and the fair value of the consideration paid
or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners
of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it (i) derecognises the
assets (including any goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary at their
carrying amounts at the date when control is lost, (i) derecognises
the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost (including any components of
other comprehensive income attributable to them), and (i) recognises
the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any retained interest, with any resulting difference
being recognise as a gain or loss in profit or loss attributable to
the Group. When assets of the subsidiary are carried at revalued
amounts or fair values and the related cumulative gain or loss has
been recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity, the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets (i.e. reclassified to profit
or loss or transferred directly to accumulated profits as specified by
applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the
former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as
the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under
HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” or,
when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate or a jointly controlled entity.
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Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries prior to April 1, 2010

Increases in interests in existing subsidiaries were treated in the same
manner as the acquisition of subsidiaries, with goodwill or a bargain
purchase gain being recognised where appropriate. For decreases in
interests in subsidiaries, regardless of whether the disposals would
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries, the difference
between the consideration received and the adjustment to the non-
controlling interests (the carrying amount of the net assets attributable
to non-controlling interest) was recognised in profit or loss.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to
employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured
in accordance with HKAS 12 “Income taxes” and HKAS 19
‘Employee benefits” respectively;

° liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into a replace share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured
in accordance with HKFRS 2 “Share-based payment” at the
acquisition date (see accounting policy below); and

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale
in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current assets held for sale
and discontinued operations” are measured in accordance with
that Standard.
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Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree,
and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in
the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of
the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after re-
assessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests
in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held
interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately
in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets
in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value or
at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognised
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of
measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis.
Other types of non-controlling interests are measured at their fair value
or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another Standard.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incompleted
by the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs,
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
during the measurement period (see above), or additional assets or
liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts
and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known,
would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date.
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Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a business or a jointly controlled
entity (which is accounted for using proportionate consolidation) is
carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any, and is
presented separately in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each
of the cash-generating units (or groups of cash-generating units) that
is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently whenever there is an indication
that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition
in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit to which goodwill has
been allocated is tested for impairment before the end of that reporting
period. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less
than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the
unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata on the basis of
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss
for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income. An impairment loss recognised
for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the amount of
profit or loss on disposal.
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An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence
and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint venture.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated
in these consolidated financial statements using the equity method of
accounting. Under the equity method, investments in associates are
initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the
profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associates.
When the Group'’s share of losses of an associate equals or exceeds
its interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of that associate.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
of an associate recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised
as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether it
is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to the
Group's investment in an associate. When necessary, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for
impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” as
a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value
in use and fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying amount,
any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of
the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in
accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount
of the investment subsequently increases.
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Upon disposal of an associate that results in the Group losing significant
influence over that associate, any retained investment is measured at
fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value
on initial recognition as a financial asset in accordance with HKAS 39.
The difference between the previous carrying amount of the associate
attributable to the retained interest and its fair value is included in
the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate. In
addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to that associate on the same
basis as would be required if that associate had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate would
be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets
or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to
profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when it loses significant
influence over that associate.

When a group entity transacts with its associate, profits and losses
resulting from the transactions with the associate are recognised in
the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the extent of
interests in the associate that are not related to the Group.

Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment of a separate
entity in which venturers have joint control over the economic activity
of the entity are referred 1o as jointly controlled entities.

The Group recognises its interests in jointly controlled entities using
proportionate consolidation. The Group’s share of each of the assets,
liabilities, income and expenses of the jointly controlled entities are
combined with the Group's similar line items, line by line, in the
consolidated financial statements.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of the Group’s interest in jointly
controlled entities is accounted for in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition on a business
or jointly controlled entities (see the accounting policy above).

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
of a jointly controlled entity recognised at the date of acquisition is
recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount
of the investment.
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Any excess of the Group'’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

When a group entity transacts with its jointly controlled entity, profits
and losses resulting from the transactions with the jointly controlled
entity are recognised in the Group’ consolidated financial statements
only to the extent of interests in the jointly controlled entity that are
not related to the Group.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods sold and
services provided in the normal course of business, net of discounts
and sales related taxes.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when goods are
delivered and title has passed, at which time all the following conditions
are satisfied:

° the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and
rewards of ownership of the goods;

° the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement
to the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective
control over the goods sold;

° the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

° it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
transaction will flow to the Group; and

° the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction
can be measured reliably.

Revenue from sales of natural gas, liquefied petroleum gas (‘LPG"),
coke and gas appliances are recognised when the gas or goods are
delivered and title has passed.

Rental income under operating leases is recognised on a straight-line
basis over the terms of the relevant leases.
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For the year ended March 31, 2012 B Z —F—_—F=A=+—HIFE

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable
that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of
income can be measured reliably. Interest income from a financial asset
is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding
and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the expected
life of the financial asset to that asset's net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholders’
rights to receive payment have been established (provided that it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the
amount of revenue can be measured reliably).

Property, plant and equipment including land (classified as finance
leases) and buildings held for use in the production or supply of goods
and services, or for administrative purposes, (other than construction
in progress and described below) are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment other than construction in progress
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using
the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on
a prospective basis.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include professional fees and, for qualifying
assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy. Such properties are classified to the appropriate
categories of property, plant and equipment when completed and
ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are
ready for their intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal
or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended March 31, 2012 B Z —F—_—F=A=+—HIFE

Building under development for future owner-
occupied purpose

When buildings are in the course of development for production or for
administrative purposes, the amortisation of prepaid lease payments
provided during the construction period is included as part of costs of
buildings under construction. Buildings under construction are carried
at cost, less any identified impairment losses. Depreciation of buildings
commences when they are available for use (i.e. when they are in the
location and condition necessary for them to be capable of operating
in the manner intended by management).

Investment properties are properties held to eamn rentals or for capital
appreciation. Investment properties include land held for undetermined
future use, which is regarded as held for capital appreciation
purpose.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at their fair values. Gains or
losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment property
are included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period in which the item
is derecognised.
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Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred.

Aninternally-generated intangible asset arising from development activities
(or from the development phase of an internal project) is recognised if,
and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

° the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that
it will be available for use or sale;

° the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell
it;

° the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

° how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic
penefits;

° the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources
to complete the development and to use or sell the intangible
asset; and

° the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the
intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible
asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when
the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above.
Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is charged to profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-
generated intangible asset is measured at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses (if any), on the same
basis as intangible assets acquired separately.
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Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets which are acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially recognised
at their fair values at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their
cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with finite useful
lives are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets
with finite useful lives is provided on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are
measured at the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in profit or loss
in the period when the asset is derecgonised.

Where the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated
reliably, revenue and costs are recognised by reference to the stage
of completion of the contract activity at the end of the reporting period,
measured based on the proportion that contract costs incurred for work
performed to date relative to the estimated total contract costs, except
where this would not be representative of the stage of completion.
Variations in contract work, claims and incentive payments are included
to the extent that the amount can be measured reliably and its receipt
is considered probable.

Where the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated
reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the extent of contract costs
incurred that it is probable will be recoverable. Contract costs are
recognised as expense in the period in which they are incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total
contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.
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Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less
recognised losses exceed progress billings, the surplus is shown
as amounts due from customers for contract work. For contracts
where progress billings exceed contract costs incurred to date plus
recognised profits less recognised losses, the surplus is shown as
amounts due to customers for contract work. Amounts received
before the related work is performed are included in the consolidated
statement of financial position, as a liability, as advances received.
Amounts billed for work performed but not yet paid by the customer
are included in the consolidated statement of financial position under
trade and other receivables.

Inventories, including construction materials, gas appliances and gas
for sales, LPG, coke, consumables and spare parts, are stated at
the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is calculated using
the weighted average method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating lease is recognised in profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term, except where another systematic basis
is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits
from the leased asset are consumed.
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When a lease includes both land and building elements, the Group
assesses the classification of each element as a finance or an operating
lease separately based on the assessment as to whether substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of each element have
been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear that both elements
are operating leases in which case the entire lease is classified as an
operating lease. Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including
any lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated between the land and
the building elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the
leasehold interests in the land element and building element of the
lease at the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made reliably,
interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an operating lease is
presented as “prepaid lease payments” in the consolidated statement
of financial position and is amortised over the lease term on a straight-
line basis, except for those that are classified and accounted for as
investment properties under the fair value model. When the lease
payments cannot be allocated reliably between the land and building
elements, the entire lease is generally classified as a finance lease
and accounted for as property, plant and equipment.

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional
currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair
value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in
a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise. Exchange differences arising
on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are
included in profit or loss for the period except for differences arising
on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains
and losses are recognised directly in other comprehensive income,
in which cases, the exchange differences are also recognised directly
in other comprehensive income.
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For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group entities are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollar) at the rate
of exchange prevailing at the end of the reporting period, and their
income and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates
for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates
of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity,
under the heading of translation reserve (attributable to non-controlling
interest as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, a disposal
involving loss of joint control over a jointly controlled entity that
includes a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of significant
influence over an associate that includes a foreign operation), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to
profit or loss. In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary
that does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re-
attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or
loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates or
jointly controlled entities that do not result in the Group losing significant
influence or joint control), the proportionate share of the accumulated
exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation before January 1,
2005 is treated as non-monetary foreign currency items of the
acquirer and reported using the historical cost prevailing at the date
of acquisition.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on or after January
1, 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation
and retranslated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in equity
under the heading of translation reserve.
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Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”)
and state-managed retirement benefit schemes are recognised as
an expense when employees have rendered service entitling them
to the contributions.

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from
the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates, and
interests in jointly controlled entities, except where the Group is able
to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when
it relates to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are
also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in
the accounting for the business combination.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
on production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position when a group entity becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into one of the three
categories, including financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss ("FVTPL"), loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial
assets. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the
financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest income over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and points
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt
instruments other than those financial assets classified as FVTPL, of
which interest income included in net gains or losses.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of the Group
comprise held for trading financial assets. A financial asset is classified
as held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the
near future; or

° it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that
the Group manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging
instrument.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with changes in
fair value arising from remeasurement recognised directly in profit or
loss in the period in which they arise. The net gain or loss recognised
in profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on the financial
assets.
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Financial assets (Continued)
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables including trade
and other receivables, amounts due from associates, pledged bank
deposits and bank balances are carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any identified impairment losses (see
accounting policy on impairment loss on financial assets below).

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated or not classified as (a) loan and receivable, (b) held to
maturity investments or (c) financial assets at FVTPL.

Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value at the end
of the reporting period. Changes in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in investment revaluation
reserve, until the financial asset is disposed of or is determined to
be impaired, at which time, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve is reclassified to
profit or loss (see accounting policy on impairment loss on financial
assets below).

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a quoted
market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably
measured and derivatives that are linked to and must be settled by
delivery of such unquoted equity instruments, they are measured at
cost less any identified impairment losses at the end of the reporting
period (see accounting policy on impairment loss on financial assets
below).
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Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators
of impairment at the end of the reporting period. Financial assets are
considered to be impaired where there is objective evidence that, as
a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition
of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial
assets have been affected.

For an available-for sale equity investment, a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of that investment below its cost is considered
to be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could
include:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

o breach of contract, such as default and delinquency in interest
and principal payments; or

° it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or
financial re-organisation; or

° the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables,
assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually are, in addition,
assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of
impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group's
past experience of collecting payments and observable changes in
national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on
receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the
impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset's
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest
rate.
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Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss
is measured as the difference between the asset's carrying amount
and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted
at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such
impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of
trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the
use of an allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of
the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. When the
trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against
the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited to profit or loss.

When an available-for-sale financial asset is considered to be
impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the period
in which the impairment takes place.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent
period, the amount of impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
losses was recognised, the previously recognised impairment l0ss is
reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount
of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed
what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not
been recognised.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments will not be
reversed in profit or loss in subsequent periods. Any increase in fair
value subsequent to impairment loss is recognised directly in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in investment revaluation
reserve.
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Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premium or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss

Financial liabilities at FVTPL represent financial liabilities held for trading,
which comprise derivatives that are not designated and effective as
a hedging instrument.

At the end of the reporting period subsequent to initial recognition,
financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with changes
in fair value arising on remeasurement recognised directly in profit or
loss in the period in which they arise.
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Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Convertible bonds that contain liability component
and conversion/redemption option derivatives

Convertible bonds issued by the Group that contain both the liability and
conversion/redemption option components are classified separately
into respective items on initial recognition. Conversion option that will
be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or
another financial asset for a fixed number of the Company’s own
equity instruments is a conversion option derivative. The redemption
option derivatives represent the redemption at the option of the bond
holders before the maturity date. At the date of issue, both the liability
and conversion/redemption option components are recognised at fair
value.

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the convertible bonds
is carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The
conversion/redemption option derivative is measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible bonds are
allocated to the liability and conversion/redemption option components
in proportion to their relative fair values. Transaction costs relating to
the conversion/redemption option derivatives are charged to profit and
loss immediately. Transaction costs relating to the liability component
are included in the carrying amount of the liability portion and amortised
over the period of the convertible bonds using the effective interest
method.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade and other payables, amounts
due to associates and a non-controlling interest of a subsidiary and
bank and other borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.

Obligation to acquire non-controlling interests

Aforward contract which contains an obligation to acquire non-controlling
interest of a subsidiary is initially recognised at the present value of
the contracted amount (consideration payable) with a corresponding
debit to equity (non-controlling interests) and subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value at
the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting period. The
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately unless
the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in
which event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on
the nature of the hedge relationship.

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts are treated
as separate derivatives when their risks and characteristics are not
closely related to those of the host contracts, and the host contracts
are not measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in profit or loss.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in
the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and
the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Where the Group redeems a convertible bond before its maturity, the
consideration paid is allocated to the liability and derivative components
of the convertible bond at their respective fair values at the time
of redemption. To the extent that the amount of the consideration
allocated to the liability component is less than the carrying amount of
the liability component at the time of redemption, a gain is recognised
in profit or loss.
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Share options granted to employees of the Company
vested on or after April 1, 2005

The fair value of services received determined by reference to the
fair value of share options granted at the grant date is expensed on
a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding
increase in equity (employee share-based compensation reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of
the number of options that are expected to ultimately vest. The impact
of the revision of the original estimates during the vesting period, if any,
is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects
the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to employee
share-based compensation reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in employee share-based compensation reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options are forfeited
after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the
amount previously recognised in employee share-based compensation
reserve will be transferred to accumulated profits.

Share options granted to employees of the Company
and vested before April 1, 2005

The financial impact of the share options granted and fully vested
before April 1, 2005 is not recorded in the consolidated financial
statements until such time as the options are exercised, and no charge
is recognised in profit or loss in respect of the value of options granted.
Upon the exercise of the share options, the resulting shares issued are
recorded as additional share capital at the nominal value of the shares,
and the excess of the exercise price per share over the nominal value
of the shares is recorded as share premium. Options which lapse or
are cancelled prior to their exercise date are deleted from the register
of outstanding options.
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Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current
assets are recognised as a deduction from the carrying amount of
the relevant asset in the consolidated statement of financial position
and transferred to profit or loss over the useful lives of the related
assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or
losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial
support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if
any. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets
are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future
cash flows have not been adjusted.
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If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment l0ss is recognised as an expense
immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.

During the year ended March 31, 2011, the Group acquired business
through purchase of subsidiaries of which the fair values of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired were
determined provisionally. During the year, the Group made certain
fair value adjustments, with reference to the valuation reports, to
the carrying amounts of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
subsidiaries acquired as a result of completing the initial accounting.
The adjustments to the fair values at the acquisition date of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities were made as if
initial accounting had been completed on the acquisition date.
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The cumulative effects of the above restatements on the consolidated
statement of financial position as at March 31, 2011 are summarised

below:

Goodwill

Other intangible assets
Deferred tax liabilities
Other assets and liabilities

Net assets

Non-controlling interests
Other reserves items
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Subsequent
fair value
adjustments
on acquisition
of businesses
through
As at purchase of
March 31, 2011 subsidiaries
(note 42 (B))
EiB U T
BARE

REB——F EBIBER RE

=g=+-8 AVESE =8

(Bi=E42(8))
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
(originally stated)
(RIR5)

1,665,604 (30,278) 1
1,401,675 42,533 1

(526,436) (10,633)
7,897,313 - 7
10,338,156 1,622 10
1,673,480 1,622 1
8,764,676 - 8
10,338,156 1,622 10

As at
March
31, 2011

HK$'000
FAT
(restated)

(&%)

535,326
444,208
(537,069)
897,313

,339,778

675,102
, (64,676

,339,778
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The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year.

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the
value in use of the cash-generating units to which goodwill has been
allocated. The value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate
the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating
unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value.
When the actual future cash flows are less than expected, a material
impairment loss may arise. As at March 31, 2012, the carrying amount
of goodwill was HK$1,038,591,000 (2011: HK$1,535,326,000) with
no impairment loss recognised. Details of the recoverable amount
calculation disclosed in note 25.

At the end of the reporting period, management assessed the
recoverability of its intangible assets arising from the acquisitions of
businesses/assets, in which the carrying amount at March 31, 2012
was HK$1,281,448,000 (2011: HK$1,444,208,000). The business of
the cash generating unit continues to progress in a satisfactory manner.
Detailed valuation analysis has been carried out and management is
confident that the carrying amount of the asset will be recovered in full.
This situation will be closely monitored. Any change in the business
environment may lead to the change of expected future cashflows in
the future. If the future recoverable amounts fall below the carrying
amounts, additional impairment is required.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives, after taking into account the estimated
residual value. The Group assesses annually the residual value and the
useful life of the property, plant and equipment and if the expectation
differs from the original estimates, such differences from the original
estimates will impact the depreciation charges in the year in which
the estimates change.
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As at March 31, 2012, the Group has unused tax losses of
HK$2,822,417,000 (2011: HK$2,180,660,000) available for offset
against future profits. No deferred tax asset in relation to these
unused tax losses approximately to HK$2,748,194,000 (2011:
HK$2,109,107,000) has been recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position. In cases where there are future profits
generated to utilise the tax losses, a material deferred tax assets may
arise, which would be recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income for the period in which the estimated future
profits are expected.

Construction revenue from gas connection contracts is recognised on
the percentage of completion method, measured by reference to the
proportion of the contract costs incurred for the work performed to
date over the estimated total contract costs. Accordingly, any changes
to the estimated total contract cost may have material impact on
the contract revenue recognised in each accounting period over the
contract term.

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged throughout
the year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which include
the amount due to a non-controlling interest of a subsidiary, bank and
other borrowings and convertible bonds disclosed in notes 35, 36 and
39 respectively, and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital disclosed in note 37, reserves and
accumulated profits as disclosed in consolidated statements of
changes in equity.

The management reviews the capital structure by considering the cost
of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based
on recommendations of the management, the Group will balance
its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, new
share issues as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of
existing debt.
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Financial assets CHEE
Available-for-sale investments AR ERE
Held-for-trading investments FEBEEREA
Loans and receivables BRREWRGRIA

(including cash and (BiERekRE
cash equivalents) £EEE)

Financial liabilities TRAaf
Amortised cost B SRR
FVTPL- Derivative financial BAFE AEE -

liabilities MTETHEE

The Group’s major financial instruments include available-for-sale
investments, held-for-trading investments, amounts due from/to
associates, trade and other receivables, derivative financial instruments,
trade and other payables, amount due to a non-controlling interest of
a subsidiary, bank and other borrowings, pledged bank deposits and
bank balances. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments
and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

Market risks
Currency risk

The Group collects most of its revenue in RMB and most of the
expenditures as well as capital expenditures are also denominated
in BRMB. However, the Group has certain bank balances, amount
due to a non-controlling interest of a subsidiary and bank and other
borrowings that are not denominated in functional currency of the
respective group entities. The appreciation or devaluation of RMB
against foreign currencies may have positive or negative impact on
the results of operations of the Group.
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6. Financial Instruments (Continued) 6. SRMIAE)
Financial risk management objectives and policies BERREEEERBER(E)
(Continued)
Market risks (Continued) miEE kR (&
Currency risk (Continued) B ()
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy REEERUEINEEFRE - BEERE
but the directors monitor foreign exchange exposure and will consider EERANERR NBEZTE @EZEEHPEKR
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise. HNERER o RIREHIR - AEBUINESHE
As at end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts of the Group'’s ZEMEERBEZERAMBNT
monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currency
are as follows:
Assets Liabilities
BE afE
2012 2011 2012 2011

—F--F ZF—F —B-=-Ff ZF—F
HK$000  HK$O00  HK$'000  HKFO0O
TEx TET T BT

United States Dollars (“USD") ESUEH)! 1,651,010 2,012,124 4,121,951 4,797,837

HK$ BT 18,936 25,215 - -

Japanese Yen ("JPY") HE(THE]) - - 444,725 232,082
The carrying amounts of inter-company balances of certain group DONBH BB TERER 2 A RIBEHE

entities which were denominated in foreign currency are as follows: HEWT :
Liabilities
aE

2012 2011

—E——& —E——fF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHExT FET

usD E 35,869 69,725
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Market risks (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% (2011: 5%)
increase and decrease in RMB against respective foreign currencies.
5% (2011: 5%) is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign
currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents
management's assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currencies denominated monetary items and adjusts their
translation at the end of the reporting period for a 5% (2011: 5%)
change in foreign currencies rates. A positive number below indicates
an increase in post-tax profit where RMB strengthen 5% (2011: 5%)
against the relevant currencies. For a 5% (2011: 5%) weakening of
RMB against the relevant currency, there would be an equal and
opposite impact on the result for the year and the balance below
would be negative.

USD impact
HK$ impact BILR
JPY impact =RETF:

M
Sl
W
L

RS
g

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED A BIA FIE R A PR A A)

e A=Y

B (E

BERE DT
TRFAFMAEBEGAREESINEFAE R
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(Decrease) increase
in post-tax profit
for the year
FERTRAZER (RL) &
2011
—F——%F
HK$'000
FHET

107,079
(946)
8,737

114,870
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Market risks (Continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group manages its interest rate exposure based on interest rate
level as well as potential impact on the Group’s financial position
arising from volatility. Interest rate swap is the hedging instrument most
commonly used by the Group to manage interest rate exposure.

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to
amount due to a non-controlling interest of a subsidiary, fixed-rate
bank and other borrowings and the convertible bonds issued by the
Group (see notes 35, 36 and 39 for details of these borrowings and
convertible bonds respectively). The Group aims at keeping borrowings
at variable rates. In order to achieve this result, the Group entered
into interest rate swaps to hedge against its exposures to changes in
fair values of the borrowings during the year ended March 31, 2011,
These hedging activities did not qualify for hedge accounting. The
changes in fair value of the interest rate swaps were recognised in
the profit and loss as they arise. The Group did not have any interest
rate swaps at March 31, 2012,

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to variable-rate bank balances and floating-rate bank and other
borrowings (see notes 32 and 36 for details of bank balances and
these borrowings respectively). It is the Group’s policy to keep its
borrowings at floating rate of interests so as to minimise the fair value
interest rate risk.

sk (&)

Fi 7 B

4 gk AR 45 ) K T RV 2 4 L A
REBR 2 B EEREFRER - A%
BEATERS KA EHRTA  UEE
HEmS -

7 5 B T il £ P AT Y BB 8 R SRR AR 25 2 3K
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B2 B R +E35 ~ 36 %39)F 2 A FEF
EEG c AREEELHEFERNFERH -
BEBZER  AEEREE_T—F=
A=+ —BLEFEIT LM ESHUAEFREE
NEEEEH AR - ZFEPEH T AHFE
s o FIRBHZ ATFEZHNEE
RBEEEER AKBR=-ZE——-F=/A=
+— B X ETF R -

A& B NS BT AR TR R
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Market risks (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the exposure
to interest rate risk for both floating-rate bank and other borrowings
and interest rate swaps, together with the interest capitalised to
construction in progress at the end of the reporting period. Floating-
rate bank balances have not been included in the sensitivity analysis
as the management considers that the interest rate would not fluctuate
significantly in the near future and therefore the financial impact to the
group is not significant. A change of 100 basis points (2011: 100
basis points) was applied to the yield curves and interest rate on
both floating-rate bank and other borrowings and interest rate swap,
together with the interest capitalised to construction in progress. The
applied change is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management’s assessment of
the reasonably possible change in interest rates. If the interest rate
of variable rate bank and other borrowings and interest rate swaps,
together with the interest capitalised to construction in progress had
been 100 basis points (2011: 100 basis points) higher/lower and all
other variables were held constant, the Group'’s post-tax profit for the
year, after taking amount of interest capitalised and fair value changes
on the interest rate swap, would decrease/increase by HK$80,513,000
(2011: HK$62,086,000).

Equity price risk

The Group’s available-for-sale investments and held-for-trading
investments are measured at fair value at the end of the reporting
period. Therefore, the Group is exposed to equity price risk. The
management manages this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of
investments with different risk profiles.
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Market risks (Continued)

Equity price risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to equity price risks of listed equity instrument at the reporting
date. A 10% (2011: 10%) change is used when reporting equity
price risk internally to key management personnel and represents
management's assessment of the reasonably possible change in
equity price.

For the year ended March 31, 2012, if the market bid prices of the
listed investments had been 10% (2011: 10%) higher/lower and all
other variables were held constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for the
year would increase/decrease by HK$910,000 (2011: HK$998,000)
and the Group's investment revaluation reserve will increase/decrease
by HK$905,000 (2011: HK$1,591,000) respectively. This is mainly
attributable to the changes in fair values of the listed held-for-trading
investments and available-for-sale investments respectively.

Credit risk

As at March 31, 2012, the Group's maximum exposure to credit
risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties or debtors provided
by the Group is arising from the carrying amount of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade debt at each
half-reporting end date and end of the reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In
this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments is
limited because the counterparties are reputable banks in the PRC
and banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-
rating agencies.
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Market risks (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, other than concentration of credit
risk on amounts due from a single associate of HK$201,224,000
(2011: HK$234,933,000). The associate operates in the sales of
natural gas and gas pipeline construction in the PRC and no default
payment history was noted. In order to minimise the credit risk on
amount due from an associate, the directors of the Company closely
monitors the subsequent settlement and does not grant long credit
period to the counterparty. In this regard, the directors of the Company
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significant reduced. The Group
does not have any other significant concentration of credit risk, with
exposure spread over a number of sub-contractors, commercial and
household customers.

The policy of allowances for doubtful debts of the Group is based on
the evaluation of collectability and aging analysis of accounts and on
management’s estimate. In determining whether impairment is required,
the Group takes into consideration of aging status and likelihood of
collection. Specific allowance is only made for receivables that are
unlikely to be collected and is recognised on the difference between
the estimated future cash flows expected to receive discounted using
the original effective interest rate and the carrying value. If the financial
conditions of customers of the Group were to deteriorate, resulting in
an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowance
may be required.

Liquidity risk

The Group has net current liabilities of HK$3,280,019,000 as at March
31, 2012 (2011: HK$1,802,781,000). The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis because
the directors believe that the Group has sufficient funds to finance
its current working capital requirements taking into account of the
cash flows from operations and assuming the continuing ability to
utilise the available long-term bank loans facilities. As at March 31,
2012, the Group had available unutilised long-term bank loans facilities
of HK$34,275,305,000 (2011: HK$35,707,479,000). Details of the
Group’s bank and other borrowings at March 31, 2012 are set out
in note 36.
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Market risks (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by
the management to finance the Group'’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. In addition to issuance of new
shares and convertible bonds, the Group also relies on bank and
other borrowings as a significant source of liquidity. The management
monitors the utilisation of bank and other borrowings.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity
for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based
on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.
Specifically, bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the earliest time band regardless of the probability of the
banks choosing to exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other
non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed repayment
dates.

The tables include both interest and principal gross cash flows. To the
extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is
derived from interest rate curve at the end of the reporting period.
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Market risks (Continued) mEEEE(E)
Liquidity risk (Continued) RBESREK(E
Carrying
Weighted amount
average  Payable Between  Between Total at the end
contractual on Lessthan 1to  Imonths  Between Over undiscounted of reporting
interestrate ~ demand ~ 1month  3Imonths  to1year 1to5years  5years cash flows period
nEwy  ZEER -EAE  Z@RZ AR NEEER

G RE JW-BR  =EA - -FERf  RENL RERER ZREE
% HG000  HKS000  HKBOOD  HKBOOD  HKBOOD  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKSOOO
TEn  TRT TR TAm  TER  TEm  TAT TR

At March 31, 2012 W-§-ZFzf=t-8
Non-derivative financial liabiities HiEeRaE
Trade and bil payables LORMENRENRE - - 452009 1344880 443770 - - 010758 2,040,758
Other payables and accrued charges EfERREREER - - NTE8 13281 60788 - - T045% 70459
Amounts due to non-controling Inferests EfNBLFEE

of subsidiares RiEs 2% - 09639 - - - - - B %Y
Amounts due to shareholders of jointly ERZRZ52RRE

controlled entiies BB - 9,938 - - - - - 9,938 9,938
Bark and other borowings FREMES

- fived rate -8 6.35% - - - 4626303 522200 - 871,084 6019603 5,660,229

- floating rate -28 8.35% - 1218 20074 4998473 40166% 289,325 11938282 9,709,933
Amount due to a non-controling inerest Ef-EHELA

of & subsicfary iR B % - - - 5268 - - 5268 5165

100077 960840 1507744 10134652 4538958 3766359 21014130 18,426,204

At March 31, 2014 K-8--§zh=1-A
Non-derivative financial liabilities FTELRER
Trade and bil payables ERENETRENRE - - o3 1317562 434753 - - 219528 21928
Other payables and accrued charges EHENEERENER - - bI3E 153073 68278 - - T3916 734916
Amounts due to non-controling inerests NG

of subsidiares ERZE - 69705 - - - - - 69T 69705
Amounts due to shareholders of jointy Ef SRR EE

confolled entiies Rz 2308 - 1759 - - - - - 739 1739
Odligation on captal imection to Fujan hRPI (e A ke

Arvan (a5 defined in note 22) by Znongmin WEERA(EERNE2)

Zhongran fas defined in note 54) FENRR - - - B8 - - - BM8 23448
Obligation on acquistion of additondl WENBRAEMER,

interest n a subsidiary [note 33) BfE(M3s) - - - - BB - - BB B
Bank and other borowings BREbEE

- fived rate -T& 6.77% - - - 2920673 44650615 1193394 5951682 5,574,302

-~ floating rate -28 8.15% 59,023 1222 19483 3,765,080 4214003 3844707 11904623 9,408,862
Amount due to & non-controling inerest Ef-BHELT

of a subsicry FElER A % - - - 518 - - 518 5042

146627 9r 700 1513516 40604627 8679668 5038101 20340239 18,116,997
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Market risks (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

As at March 31, 2011, bank loans with a repayment on demand clause
were included in the “payable on demand” time band in the above
maturity analysis. As at March 31, 2011, the aggregate undiscounted
principal amounts of these bank loans amounted to HK$59,523,000.
Taking into account the Group’s financial position, the directors did
not believe that it was probable that the banks will exercise their
discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment. The directors
believed that such bank loans will be repaid under category between
1 to 5 years in the liquidity table after the reporting date in accordance
with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements.
At that time, the aggregate principal and interest cash outflows wil
amount to HK$70,586,000.

The amounts included above for variable rate bank borrowings are
subject to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those
estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the reporting
period.

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined
as follows:

° the fair values of financial assets with standard terms and
conditions and traded in active liquid markets are determined
with reference to quoted market bid prices; and

° the fair values of other financial assets and financial liabilities
(excluding derivative instruments) are determined in accordance
with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted
cash flow analysis; and

° the fair values of interest rate range accrual swaps as set out
in note 34, are calculated using discounted cash flow analysis
based on the application yield curve derived from quoted interest
rates and quoted spot and forward foreign exchange rates. For
an option-based derivative embedded in convertible bonds, the
fair value is estimated using option pricing model.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in
the financial statements approximate to their fair values.

miE R (E)

TEESRMR(Z
W_ZE——F=ZA=+—08 KHERERE
TNGEFR 2 IRITERE LB BB STt Al B
EEREE I ZHEBR RTE——F=
A=+—8 ZERTERZABBELRSE
& $£59,623,000/8 7T © T R AEE 2 Bk
Mg BEERERTTENERERANGE
MRZAIREETRK - EFAE  BARDES
NERA—FERFERET ZRITEFER
HE AR REERGBAETETEE B H
BE- - BF  A2RBEERMNEBREREBA
70,586,000/ 7T °

14557 B s )20 B 25 A 6 25 B o F T
fERIR - BIA ERUT B RITIE R R0 2
ER G -

TREEATHMBEZ A TENEE R EN
T

s HAREKRRGHEBEBRTSZ
EREE ERVFEDZEESRMZ
MISREBRERETE - &

s HiEMEEREBRAGMTEEITE
TR ZAFHEDNREARZEEBEN
MEE @ WRERSRERRBE DN -
)53

o WHINPHEES4PTHE - A K E R H
ZRFEDRBBRARESRED A
8 MmBRRESRED N IHREME
MEEMBRERERERFAETZE
s AR EHE o M0 AT AR (B 25
ZHREITAET B A ERRA 2
EERAEITREE

ARREFER RN MR IR A ARR

ZeRMEERERAGB I RAERERFE
B -
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For the year ended March 31, 2012 B Z —F—_—F=A=+—HIFE

Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that
are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, grouped
into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is

observable.

° Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted
prices (unadjusted) in active market for identical assets or
liabilities.

° Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs

other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices)
or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

° Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation
technigues that include inputs for the asset or liability that are
not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Financial assets at FVTPL

Derivative financial asset
Held-for-trading investments

Available-for-sale financial
assets

Listed equity securities

Unlisted club debentures

Total

BAFEFABENEREE
TEEREE
FIEEERE

AHHEETREE

ERBEAES
FETEMES

et

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED A BIA FIE R A PR A A)

REGEH BRI RERL L FETE

TRERVNT AR FEERRTENSHT
BEof ARAIBEAFERENR—E=
Ao

« F-BATEHEDEHEAAERA
BRERTSA AR ARG -

s FRAFEMENRE-FFAD
HBEN BEERRBEATER(AE
R SEFER(BERITE)BREABE
/i -

o E=HRAFEFENFALIFREN
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Financial assets at FVTPL

For the year ended March 31, 2012 B Z —F—_—F=A=+—HIFE

BAPEFABENEREE

Derivative financial asset PTESREE

Held-for-trading investments HIEEERE
Available-for-sale financial AHHEESREE

assets
Listed equity securities TR ARG 5
Unlisted club debentures JEETEMES
Financial liabilities at FVTPL R AFE ABZHNE@MEE
Derivative financial liability PTESRERE

M RHE R

Interest rate range accrual
swaps

Total @t

There were no transfer between Level 1 and 2 in the current year
and prior year.

Revenue mainly represents the net amounts received and receivable for
sales of piped gas, LPG and coke and gas appliances and construction
contract revenue from gas connection contracts by the Group for the
year and is analysed as follows:

Sales of piped gas EBMRHEE

Gas connection income RS B

Sales of LPG LA RRIEE
Sales of coke and gas appliances #RE N RELR B E
Rental income HEWA

2011
—E——4F

Level 1 Level 2 Total
EF— B 45T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FH&T FHT
11,948 - 11,948
15,908 - 15,908
- 5,047 5,047
- (32,122) (32,122)
27,856 (27,075) 781

RAFEREFE  F-—REAFE_R2BEBL
BER o

WAFBHEFAREEHEEERT - &RIL
BRRARRERDEEHEURREBRTIER
BHZIRAEHKRAZE R R EWRIEF
BooofwT

2011
.
HK$'000
TAT
6,359,041
2,346,388
6,654,797
486,131
16,5623

15,861,880
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For the year ended March 31, 2012 B Z —F—_—F=HA=1+—HIFE

Information reported to the Group's chief operating decision maker
("“CODM"), being the managing directors of the Group, for the purposes
of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses
on types of goods or services rendered which is also consistent
with the basis of organisation of the Group, except for Zhongyu Gas
Holdings Limited (“Zhongyu Gas”), a subsidiary where the Group had
acquired 56.33% equity interest in it during the year ended March 31,
2011. The Group considered Zhongyu Gas was a single operating
segment as CODM reviewed the total revenue and overall result of
Zhongyu Gas during the year ended March 31, 2011.

On April 18, 2011, Zhongyu Gas ceased to be a subsidiary of the Group
and become an associate as a result of share placing by Zhongyu Gas
as detailed in note 44. The Group’s effective interest in Zhongyu Gas
was reduced from approximately 56.33% to approximately 46.96%.
Since then, the CODM reviewed the results of Zhongyu Gas being
shared by the Group under equity method of accounting and Zhongyu
Gas continues to be a single operating segment.

The Group's reportable and operating segments under HKFRS 8 are
as follows:

(i) Sales of piped gas;

(i) Gas connection;

(i) Sales of LPG;

(iv)  Sales of coke and gas appliances; and

(v)  Zhongyu Gas

Information regarding the above segments is presented below.

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED A BIA FIE R A PR A7)

MAEBEFZEERRE((EEEERE
H]) BIREEEFRLIR) 2HMUBHITE
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HE-_Z——F=-A=+—HLFE I8
BERREERTPRRRZ BUE REE
EE AEBATHEPRMRRABE—KED
5o

RZF——FOA+N\B - PR OE
EER(FBRNEIOEHHHRRRTER
AEBMBAR MK RAEEBZ QR - K
BRI B R 15 i 8 R £956.33% %
E#)46.96% © AR - TRLEERREBRMK
BREASDEMEARBERETHRRZE
B BhMMREERE —KENE -

RIETBMBREENEES  AEBZ 2R
RATES BT :

() EEMRHEE

(i) RRREER

(i) BB RRIEE
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8. Segment Information (Continued) 8. oEER(E)
Segment revenues and results PHENEREE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by REFBRSHREESEE D 2 WS REE
reportable and operating segment. DML -
For the year ended March 31, 2012 BE_—_E—_—#F=H=+—HILFEE
Sales of
coke
Sales of Gas Sales of andgas  Zhongyu  Segment
piped gas connection LPG appliances Gas Total
BEMRR BEAHER RERRE
HE  ARER HE REHE  PHMRR  2EAE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$°000
TEx TEx TEx TER TEx TR
Segment revenue from RANRERZ
external customers iz 7,662,537 7,992,816 456,694 - 18,915,768
Segment profit {loss) PEEN(EB) 1,033,390 80,749 (34,052) 53,018 2,536,838
Revenue arising from property investment M1 & iz 17,797
Change in fair value of RENELATELE
investment properties 41,491
Interest and other gains T8 R E s 79,253
Unallocated corporate expenses L NGRS (148,657)
Finance costs HHER (916,045)
Change in fair value of financial SRIARTA
instruments 2% 32,122
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEMBA Az Wz 2,035
Loss on deemed disposal of BELERBAR
a subsidiary BB (60,176)
Gain on desmed disposals of RELERERT
an associate pal6: 2,370
Share of results of unlisted FEME3E Eme
associates NEIZEE 33,390
Profit before taxation BRI 1,620,418
HK$’000
TEr
Reconciliation of revenue WERHE
Total revenue for operating segments LEN BN 18,915,768
Rental income BEBA 17,797
Group's consolidated revenue £8RANS 18,933,565



For the year ended March 31, 2012 #Z =

F——F=A=+-HALFE

For the year ended March 31, 2011

Segment revenue from external customers
Segment profit (loss)

Revenue arising from property investment

Interest and other gains

Unallocated corporate expenses

Finance costs

Change in fair value of investment
properties

Change in fair value of derivative
financial instruments

Loss on dissolution of a jointly controlled
entity

Gain on disposal of an associate

Loss on disposal of available-for-sale
investments

Share of results of unlisted associates

Profit before taxation

Reconciliation of revenue
Total revenue for operating segments
Rental income

Group's consolidated revenue

Sales of
piped gas
EERR
HE
HK$'000
THER

REIREPZ D RE 5,582,934

WERE N
IENETT
FORLTRZ
R

FANFATER

TEERTIA
ATEZE

REAREHER
ZEH#

HEBE Rz N

HEAHHERE
ZEH

i Ak N
LEE

BRBLAT A

LigeEf
BENRRYE
HEBA

SEZA Y

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED A BIA FIE R A PR A A)

692,146

Gas
connection

MRER
HK$'000
TAT

2,086,497

1,046,494

BE—

Sales of
LPG
RILAHE
HE
HK$'000
FHET

6,654,797

(22,435)

Sales

of coke
and gas
appliances
R kR
REHE
HK$'000
TER

485,131

2,638

Zhongyu
gas

PR
HK$'000
TAL
1,035,998

92,410

—F-——F=-H=1+—-HIFE

Segment
Total

NREE
HK$'000
TR
16,846,367
1,811,263

16,523

57,493
(189,742)
(614,391)

47,067

(44,790)

(932)
753

(2,042)
15,856

1,097,038

HK$'000
TAT

15,845,357
16,623

15,861,880



For the year ended March 31, 2012 B Z —F—_—F=A=+—HIFE

All of the segment revenue reported above is from external customers
and no inter-segment sales are noted for current and prior years.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as the
Group's accounting policies described in note 3. Except for segment
profit of Zhongyu Gas, segment profit (loss) for remaining reportable
segments represents the profit earmed by or loss from each segment
without allocation of bank interest income, property rental income,
exchange gain, central administration cost, change in fair value of
investment properties and derivative financial instruments, loss on
dissolution of a jointly controlled entity, gain on disposal of an associate,
loss on disposal of available-for-sale investments, gain on disposal of a
subsidiary, loss on deemed disposal of a subsidiary, gain on deemed
disposals of an associate, share of results of unlisted associates and
finance costs. The segment profit of Zhongyu Gas represents the share
of results (2011: the profit before taxation) of Zhongyu Gas. This is
the measure reported to the chief operating decision maker for the
purpose of resource allocation and performance assessment.

NE2HZ 2O BWRGKAIIAETS
RERRBEFEMED BEHELE

BED BN BUR RN SR M AN R
SETREAR o BRHMR S BRI - R
EBRD BN REN(BR)ESSED
A SRR - W EE R IRITA B WA DR -
MEESWA - B - PRITERA
REMERTESMIAZATEES  #
HAREZEFERZER HEBERARZK
@m HEAHEEREZER  HEMER
Az BIFLEMBERRZEE  1RI1E
HEBE QR Z e - BIEF EMBE QR
ZEBRMEER - RRAR D BE NS E
EPRMRZEE (T —F: KA
M) o WIHRBERDEERRRFEME NEER
BEAREERNAEBIE -

B35 3% FINANCIAL REPORT 2012



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended March 31, 2012 EE—F——#=H=+—HIFEZF

Segment Information (Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group's segment assets and
segment liabilities that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating

decision maker:

At March 31, 2012

8. DEWERE)

PTHEERRKE
UNTRREBREIBLERKETEHRAN
DREERDERENN

R-FB——F=H=+—H

Sales
of coke
Sales of Gas Sales of and gas Zhongyu
piped gas connection LPG appliances gas Total
BEMRR RitAmR REREE
HE  RRER HE REHEE  PHRRE 2EAE

HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
THR THR FTHER THER THAR FTER

Assets BE
Segment assets NEEE
Investment properties REME
Property, plant and equipment nE - BERkE
(for corporate) (2a)
Prepaid lease payments (for corporate) BN EFIE( A7)
Investments in associates REENEZRE
Avallable-for-sale investments HEERE
Deferred tax assets EREEE
Held-for-trading investments BEEERE
Other receivables (for corporate) H KRB (AR
Pledged bank deposits BEARTER
Bank balances and cash RITEBREASE
Consolidated total assets GREESST
Liabilities &
Segment liabilties NEAR
Other payables (for corporate) HtEIiRE(AR)
Taxation B
Bank and other borrowings RIIREMEE
Amount due to a non-controling BB AR
interest of a subsidiary FERERTE
Deferred tax liabilities EEREER
Consolidated total liabiliies FRBREAE

64 CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED # Bl iz AR A7

16,263,994 1,606,501 4,580,168 366,087 943,369 28,760,119
450,600

174,584
34,062
1,342,874
76,658
94,065
10,893
402,304
710,459
4,817,767

31,874,385

771,144 2629470 761,802 191,183 - 4353509
552,917
189,339

15,370,162

5,165
526,741

20,997,923



At March 31, 2011

ASSETS
Segment assets
Investment properties

Property, plant and equipment (for corporate)
Prepaid lease payments (for corporate)

Investments in associates
Avallable-for-sale investments
Deferred tax assets
Held-for-trading investments
Other receivables (for corporate)
Pledged bank deposits

Bank balances and cash

Consolidated total assets

LIABILITIES

Segment liabilities

Other payables (for corporate)

Taxation

Bank and other borrowings

Amount due to a non-controlling
interest of a subsidiary

Deferred tax liabilities

Derivative financial instruments

Consolidated total liabilities

For the year ended March 31, 2012 B Z —ZFE——F=H=+—HIFE

Sales of
piped gas
EEMA

HE

HK$'000

TAT

EE

HEAE

REME

0% - BERRE(AR)
BAHEETE(RA)
REE R RE
ARHERE
BRHIEEE
BEEERE
EthEYIRE (2R
BERRITER
RITEBRAS

RRBERE

gf
NEAR 549,785
HtERRE(RR)
Ba
FITREMEE
ENBAR
SERRR SR
BREREEE
fTESRIA

FRREER

15,012,856

Gas
connection

MREER
HK$'000
TEL

1,238,994

2,228,266

R-FE——F=ZHA=+—H

Sales of
LPG
RICEHBR
HE
HK$000
FET

3,633,330

698,570

Sales

of coke
and gas
appliances
MR RE
REHE
HK$000
TR

299,042

112,788

Zhongyu
gas

PRIR
HK$'000
TAL

2,236,507

1,198,621

Total

NRBE
HK$'000
THER
(Restated)
(E31)

22,320,729
401,890
175,788

34,349
1,009,605
82,930
91,466
11,948
308,904
1,633,466
4,827,808

30,898,783

4,787,930
715,068
136,781

14,361,182

5,042
520,890
32,122

20,659,005
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For the year ended March 31, 2012 B Z —F—_—F=HA=1+—HIFE

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and allocating
resources between segments:

All assets, except for the investments in associates for Zhongyu
Gas (2011: assets of Zhongyu Gas), are allocated to operating
segments other than investments in associates, available-for-
sale investments, property, plant and equipment and prepaid
lease payments for corporate use, deferred tax assets, held-for-
trading investments, pledged bank deposits and bank balances
and cash of the Group, and corporate assets of the Group.
Segment assets of Zhongyu Gas represents the total assets
of Zhongyu Gas.

All liabilities, except for the liabilittes of Zhongyu Gas, are
allocated to operating segments other than derivative financial
instruments, taxation, bank and other borrowings, amount due
to a non-controlling interest of a subsidiary and deferred tax
liabilities of the Group, and corporate liabilities of the Group.
Segment liabilities of Zhongyu Gas represents the total liabilities
of Zhongyu Gas.

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED A BIA FIE R A PR A7)
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8. Segment Information (Continued)

Other segment information

E-_—HF=ZH=+—HIFE

N

TEER(E)

Hivn BER

Sales
of coke
Sales of Gas  Salesof andgas  Zhongyu  Segment
piped gas connection LPG appliances Gas total Unallocated Consolidated
i RERRE
EERRHE MREH RREHE REHE TERR  ABEE  A9E &
HKS000  HKS000  HKBOOO  HKBOOO  HKS000  HKSO0D  HK$O00  HK$O000
Tér  TEr TEr TR TEr TEr TR TEn
Amounts included in the measure of REEEAEERY
sagment profit or loss or segment assets: NREENSE
2012 Z%-ZF
Aditions of prepaid lease payments BRBEFERE 63,257 - 14973 - - 78,230 - 18230
Adaitons to goodtl HERE - - 4332 - - 4332 - 433
Adaltions to property, plant and equipment 0% BERAERE 1,973,603 - 138,106 - - 2,111,709 4,199 2,115,908
Loss on disposal of propery, HENE  BER
plant and equipment FENEER 4,945 - 2,701 - - 7,646 - 7,646
(Gaih on disposal of prepaid lease payments HEBRRERBENKE (1,450) - = - = (1,450) - (1,450)
Amortisation of intangiole assets EVEERH 46,264 - - - - 46,264 - 46264
Release of prepaid lease payment HERNRENE 20,391 - 13554 - - B 33,945
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment % BERAENE 424,607 - 127428 - - 552,030 4939 556969
Alowance for irade recelvables E%Mﬁzﬁﬁk% - 2,290 - - - 2,290 - 2,290
Share of resus of assoclates AN - - - - 53,018 53,018 33,390 86,408
Investments in associates W“’WZ&Q - - - - 043369 943,360 1,342,874 2,286,243
2011 (restated) Z2--£(Ej)
Addtions of prepad lease payments BRRETERE 92,784 - 3,969 - 1218 2189% - 189%
Aditions to goodl BERE 2,744 - - - 5018 580,762 - 580762
Additions to intangible assets EVEERE 102,751 - - - 89316 192,067 - 192,087
Adaltions to property, plant and equipment 0% BERRERE 1414347 -3 - 266325 1904983 4019 1900002
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, HENE  BER
plant and equipment RENEE(ha) 9,643 - o - 1011 9,380 17 923
Loss on disposal of prepaid lease payments HERNEEENEE - 3,067 - 73 3,340 - 3340
Amortisation of infanglole assets EEERY 46,623 - - - 0851 48974 - 48014
Release of prepaid lease payment HEBNEETNA 26,980 - 133 - 2069 4292 819 43771
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment % HERRERE 390,807 176,219 - B6% 59560 3330 598992
Alowance for irade recelvables E%Mﬁzﬂ&%ﬁ% - 7383 - - - 7383 - 7383
Share of results of associates (NG - - - - - - 158%  158%
Investments in associates W’“" AzkE - - - - - - 1009505 1,009,505
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For the year ended March 31, 2012 #Z —F——F=F=+—HIFE

8. Segment Information (Continued) 8. oHEER(EZ)
Geographical information HEER

AEENEBETEMNPE -

The Group’s operations are mainly located in the PRC.

TREHAKEBIRINAEFAELE DK

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s revenue by

location of external customers:

AT

2012 2011

—E-——F —T——1F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Hong Kong B 960 960
PRC i 18,932,605 15,860,920
18,933,565 15,861,880

None of the customers contributed over 10% of total revenue of the
Group.

The following is the information about non-current assets other than
financial instruments and deferred tax assets by the geographical area
in which the assets are located:

BEZE I AERAKE10%M L -

TN RIREEMEMEDNIFERDEE (SR
TARBRRBEEERINOEFR

2012 2011
—E——fF —E——fF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

(Restated)

(&)

Hong Kong BE 146,300 143,804
PRC s 20,631,044 19,915,635
20,777,344 20,059,439
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For the year ended March 31, 2012 B Z =

Interest income

Subsidies from PRC
governmental authorities:
— compensation for loss

E-——FZ A=+ —ALFE

MBHA
TP EIBAHRE 2 fH AL

— B TS 5| B

incurred in coal gas EEREEE (M iTa)
operation (note a)
— subsidy for replacement —BERMRARMEEE
of pipelines for natural 2 FEAE (H3ED)
gas supply (note b)
— tax refund (note c) — iR B (FsEe)
Repalir and maintenance HIERRERBE
services fee
Other services income E A AR IA
Income from gas storage ik 30N
containers
Income from leasing AR E AU
of equipments
Transportation income ERA
Others Hith
Notes:
(a) Pursuant to notice of compensation dated August 28, 2007

issued by the re\evamt government authority in the PRC, #EJIEA
T RABR AR ("HEIEFL"), a subsidiary of the Company,
received a Compensat\on from the government authority to
subsidise for the increase in cost of sales of natural gas by
reference to monthly purchase volume by #EJEFR KA for both years.

For the year ended March 31, 2012, #E|EF #A received a subsidy
of HK$33,524,000 (2011: HK$12,254,000) from BT 81 B /B for
the cost incurred for connection contracts relating to pipeline network
for customers in new urban areas and replacement of old pipeline
network of the natural gas users in Fushun city. All the required
work has been completed by #EJIEFRFA. All the costs incurred were
recognised as cost of sales in profit or loss during the year. In
addition, JER PRI EEBR AR ( “EREFR" ), a subsidiary
of the Company, received subsidies of HK$19,908,000 for the
year (2011: HK$20,818,000) from YEm M BB B for its additional
costs incurred in certain gas connection contracts in which the
connection fee is fixed by the relevant government authority in the
PRC and E/AHFMRETRRERERAR, a subsidiary of the
Company, received the subsidies of HK$12,791,000 for the year
(2011: HK$11,071,000) from the relevant government authority for
the cost incurred in certain gas connection contracts.

The PRC government authorities have granted a tax incentive to
certain subsidiaries in the PRC by way of tax refund for natural gas
business operated in the PRC.

GEE

2011
—ET——%F
HK$'000
FHT

58,604

11,371

44,143
1,231

19,607
34,760

BRETHRAABNREAR-_ZF
AZ+N\BEHNEERME
M A RMIEF AT ERE
(H?%%I\IIEEM*J)*E%%EIBZW%?
AR R AR HE R AL M(2E
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%%E—Tf—ifﬁ*JrfEtE
M JIE TR A B T B K RS 2 ER B
ﬁ%%&mw%m—fffi
12,254,000 70 ) * LAE BB #TT
ERFEEREMZERAORRAR
BEFNESENBEBRELNKAE - #E
FREEKATARTELRF - TEKAD
RAFEZEBETERABHEERAN - 5
N ARREIM B A R ER PRI T EE
BRAR(ERFR D ERMY BB
FEBHIEE19,908,000/8 7L ( —F ——4 :
20,818,000 70) * LA E FHEEBRE
AX(EFRNERET AP HE BETH
BT ) FTEE ZBEINKA o A NFIHEB
AREARRE TR R ERBR QRN
B 78 BUT % B & B4 Bh 12,791,000/ 7T
TE——4F 11,071,000 TT) © LAE
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Other gains and losses comprise:

Gain on disposal of a
subsidiary (note 43(i))
Loss on deemed disposal of
a subsidiary (note 44)
Gain on deemed disposals of
an associate (note 21(a))
Loss on disposal of
available-for-sale investments
Loss on dissolution of a jointly
controlled entity (note 45)
Gain on disposal of an associate
Allowance for trade
receivables (note 30)
Change in fair value of
investment properties
Change in fair value of
held-for-trading investments
Change in fair value of derivative
financial instruments (note 34)
Gain on redemption of
Zhongyu Gas Bond
(as defined in note 39)
Exchange gain

For the year ended March 31, 2012 B Z —F—_—F=A=+—HIFE

Hh e MEEEE
HEMB A R (EE43())
WAEH ST E A R A R (Mi5T44)
BEL B S A FH W (MEE21(0)
HERMHHERENER

ff BRI I B B2 ) B 18 (BT 5 45)

B 2 N R R W as
B 5 A AR B (M RE30)

SEMEHATES
HIEEERENATERD

TEERTANAHER S (M5E34)

B B R A A SRE 25 (O RESOSE ) A M 2

BEE 56 Wi
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2011
—T——%F
HK$'000
THETT

(2,042)

(932)
753

(7,383)

47,057

(3,520)

(46,083)

1,814
103,566

93,230



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BHRRHE

For the year ended March 31, 2012 B E —F——F=H=+—HIFE

11. Finance Costs

11. BIEH

2012 2011
—F-—=F —T—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHxT FET
Interest on: LATIEE 2 FIE -
Bank loans and other HRAFANEHEEL
borrowings wholly RITERREMER
repayable within five years 607,492 253,259
Bank loans and other BERAFTFRNEZEEERE
borrowings not wholly RITERREMEE
repayable within five years 294,958 340,897
Convertible bonds (note 39) TR E S (M 5E39) - 3,045
902,450 597,201
Net interest expense on RS H 2 FF B X
interest rate swaps 81,213 101,664
Interest capitalised to BATETIRERZFE
construction in progress (67,618) (63,836)
916,045 635,029

Borrowing costs capitalised during the year arose on the general
borrowing pool and are calculated by applying a capitalisation rate
of 5.89% (2011: 5.87%) per annum to expenditure on qualifying

ANEENEBAEAZIBERATEEE —
BERERAS  RARGEREENATZ
5.89%(=ZF——14F : 5.87%)NFEEN LR

assets. HE o

Al 7

12. Taxation 12. BiiE
2012 2011
= e
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FET
PRC Enterprise Income Tax R TSR 485,725 322,951
Deferred taxation (note 40) IEFERIA (FI3E40) (7,223) (7,235)
478,502 315,716
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For the year ended March 31, 2012 B Z —F—_—F=A=+—HIFE

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in the
consolidated financial statements as the Group had no assessable
profit derived in Hong Kong for both years.

Taxation arising in the PRC is calculated at the rates prevailing in the
relevant jurisdictions except for the tax preference defined as per
below.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, certain
PRC subsidiaries of the Company are exempted from PRC Enterprise
Income Tax for the first two years commencing from their first profit-
making year of operation and thereafter, these PRC entities will be
entitled to a 50% relief from PRC Enterprise Income Tax for the following
three years (“Tax preference”). The Tax preference arrangement of
the aforesaid PRC subsidiaries have been/will be expired from 2012
to 2013. The reduced tax rate for the relief period is 12.5% for both
years. The charge of PRC Enterprise Income Tax for the years has
been provided for after taking these Tax preference into account.

The taxation for the year can be reconciled to the (loss) profit before
taxation per the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
as follows:

Hong Kong
o
2011
—E——f
HK$'000
FEL
(Loss) profit before taxation BREEAT (B 18 )2 (322,515)
Tax at the domestic income tax rate A P B &
HEZHE (53,215)
Tax effect of share of results of assoclates  JEIREFE A RIEE 2
e E -
Tax effect of expenses not RBEM S AR
deductible for tax purpose LRI HEYE 31,222
Tax effect of income not taxable ABEM S BARE
for tax purpose ZWAZHIETE (1,412)
Tax effect of estimated tax losses WERR 2 BETFE
not recognised BEHETE 23,405
Tax effect of income tax at REEREHEMG
concessionary rate M2 HEZE _
Taxation A -

Note: The applicable tax rate for Hong Kong and PRC are 16.5% (2011:

16.5%) and 25% (2011: 25%) respectively.

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED A BIA FIE R A PR A A)

AR AEERZMEFEEREBELER
Bl Al - A ARRER A M BERERAEEENE
BifEh B -

T B A RS -
2 BRBEE -

hEBRIATIIRE iR

RETFREEERIER  ARBETHE
MEBRARREAESRANFEREMFARE
ReHMmPBEEERMER  HRRZ2=ZFR"
ZETEBERSERMOO% 2 FBEBEME
BT EE) o LA - P it o 8 B /88 22 A
MBEBEBELHE /SR _2——F=—
T—=—Flam ZMEFENTRHER
126% - KEBRBEER  ERXEFFE
ZRBEEMEHIELEME -

FEBALG A 2EBARE AR A (B
B ENZERET

PRC Total

HE @t
2011 2011
—2——F —2——F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FEL
1,419,668 1,097,038
354,887 301,672
(3,964) (3,964
12,244 43,466
(14,186) (15,598)
83,804 107,269
(117,129) (117,129)
315,716 315,716

Mzt : EBERTEZEARENFIA16.5%(=
T——H 1 16.5%) R25%(ZFE——4:
25%) °



Profit for the year has been arrived
at after charging (crediting):

Auditor's remuneration
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Release of prepaid lease payments
Amortisation of intangible assets
included in cost of sales
Minimum lease payments for
operating leases in respect of:
— rented premises
— equipments

Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

(Gain) loss on disposal of
prepaid lease payments

Research and development cost
(included in administrative
expenses)

Share of tax of associates
(included in share of results of
associates)

Staff costs:

Directors’ emoluments (note 14)

Salaries and allowances
of other staff

Contributions to retirement benefit
scheme contributions
of other staff

Less: amount capitalised in
construction in progress

Cost of inventories recognised
as expenses in respect of:

Sales of piped gas

Sales of LPG

Contract costs recognised as
expense in respect of gas
connection construction contracts

Sales of coke and gas appliances

Rental income from investment
properties less outgoings
of HK$3,361,000
(2011: HK$2,314,000)

For the year ended March 31, 2012 B Z —F—_—F=A=+—HIFE

FRENCMEGIA) TSR
ZEREN I 2
ME  BELRRBIINE

FRIBNHERRIE
BREREEKRARN 2 B EE#RH

KRNz RERS
—HEwE
— iR
HEDE  BEMAXEBZEE
HEFBEMAERERN (U ) EE
RN (BIEETEASA)
JE(RES S N T IE
(BIEEREHENFEEN)
BIRAK
EEMS (FIE14)
e 8 2 &l & ER,
BEAREE MERAREF T EIE R

B BRERTIREAZESR

HATIHEEHARA 2FERA

EBMRIHE
BACB MRS

MRER TIZA WA RAX
ZBKIRA

MR R REREHE
REMFELZHSWA

S s7 $53,361,0007 7T
(ZZ——%: 2,314,000/ 7T)

2011
e
HK$'000
BT

6,000

598,992
43,771

48,974
40,061
32,627
72,688

9,263

3,340

8,642

5,015
36,404

537,676

95,067
(28,264)

640,883

4,977,184
6,089,737

688,341
465,848

12,221,110

(14,209)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR

For the year ended March 31, 2012 EE—F——#=H=+—HIFEZF

14. Emoluments of Directors 14. EEM S
Directors =
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 15 (2011: 18) directors ERKENEIsH(ZE——F  188)&ES
were as follow: ZBemT
2012
—E-—F
Contributions
Salaries to retirement
Directors’ and other Share-based benefits Total
fees benefits payments scheme emoluments
4R AR 43 BIRER
ESHe HitEA i RRE S HE WessE
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
T#n TR TR TR T#r
Independent non-executive charperson B FFRITERE
Ms. Wong Sin Yue, Gynthia Bt 480 - 457 - 937
Executive directors HOEZ
Mr. Leung Wing Cheong, Eric 2KERAE - 2,808 752 12 3,572
Mr. Pang Ying Xue ERSEE - 1,943 = = 1,943
M. Zhu Wel We RRERE - 480 609 12 1,101
Mr. Ma Jin Long B ik 300 646 609 - 1,555
M. Li Xiao Yun (Note i] TNERE () - = = = =
M. Xu Ying (Note I RER A (i) = 3 = - -
Mr. Liu Ming Hui (Note | FlmRmEE () - - - = =
Non-exective directors FHNTES
Mr. Feng Zhuo Zni REERA 240 575 457 - 1,272
Mr. Jo Yamagata &R E 240 - 457 - 697
Mr. Premesh Kumar Jain Premesh Kumar Jain%t 258 - - - 258
Mr. Moon Duk Kyu NEERE 240 - - - 240
Mr. Kim Yong Joong (Note i) SRMELE (M) - = = = 5
Mr. Mulham Basheer Abdullah Al-Jarf Mulham Basheer Abdulleh Al-Jarf5t £ 240 - - - 240
Mr. Mark Douglas Gelinas (Note i) Mark Douglas Gelinas 7t (H ziif) - - - - -
Independent non-exectitive directors BUERTES
M. Zhao Yu Hua HEELE 480 - 457 - 937
Dr. Mao Er Wan EoERET 480 - 457 - 937
2,958 6,452 4,255 24 13,689
Notes: B R

(i) Removed on April 26, 2011

(i) Appointed as alternate to Mr. Moon Duk Kyu on September 2,

2011

(i)
April 20, 2011

Appointed as alternate to Mr. Mulham Basheer Abdullah Al-Jarf on

74  CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED /Bl iz AR A7

) RIZE——FWNA-+BWER

iy MZE——FNA-BEZTAENEE

(i) RZT——FWMA=+

REZER

Mulham Basheer Abdullah Al-Jarfc 4 #)

HEEE



For the year ended March 31, 2012 B Z —ZFE——F=H=+—HIFE

2011
=F——F
Performance Contributions
Salaries related to retirement
Directors' and other incentive  Share-based benefits Total
fees benefits payments payments scheme  emoluments
ek E | DR RAER
£k LR g AR BN Mess
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
FHET TEL TEL TEL FEL TEL
Independent non-executive chairperson BUFHTER
Ms. Wong Sin Yue, Cynthia BfEmgt 480 - - 1,345 - 1825
Executive directors HIES
M. Leung Wing Cheong, Eric (Note ii) 25k &5 (i) - 643 324 201 3 1176
Mr. Pang Ying Xue (Note 1) BEEZRAE (M) - 80 40 - - 120
Mr. Zhu Wei Wi RERRA - 480 660 1,794 12 2,946
Mr. Ma Jin Long [k 3 300 - - 1,794 - 2,09
Mr. Li Xiao Yun (Note vi) ZNEEAE (i) 3,000 - - 2,208 - 5,208
Mr. Xu Ying (Note v FRIE SE 4 (M svil) - 7,200 - - 12 7,212
Mr. Liu Ming Hui (Note v BI S (M ERi) - 7,200 - - 12 7,212
Non-executive directors FHTES
Mr. Feng Zhuo Zni BEERA 240 - - 1,345 - 1,585
Mr. Jo Yamagata LEREE 240 - - 1,345 - 1,585
Mr. Premesh Kumar Jain (Note vi) Premesh Kumar Jain% &
ik - - - - - -
Mr. Moon Duk Kyu (Note i) NEERA (M) 230 - - - - 230
Mr. Mulham Basheer Mulham Basheer Abdullah
Abdullah Al-Jarf (Note ) Al-Jarf 5% A (M3 230 - - - - 230
Mr. Rackets William Hugh (Note i) Rackets Wiliam Hugh?% &
(Fi3i) - - - 48 - 48
Mr. RK. Goel (Note v) RK. Goel A (Mizty) - - - 1,281 - 1,231
Mr. Kim Joong Ho (Note i SEELA () 4 - - 48 - 52
Independent non-executive directors BUERTES
Mr. Zhao Yu Hua BEERE 480 - - 1,345 - 1825
Dr. Mao Er Wan EEBL 480 - - 1,345 - 1,825
5,684 15,608 1,024 14,049 39 36,404
Notes: BisE
() Appointed on April 13, 2010 (i) RZZT—TFNA+=HBEEE
(i) Resigned on April 13, 2010 (ii) NR-ZE—FFNB+=HFF
(iy  Appointed on December 23, 2010 iy MZE—ZTF+-_A-+=-HESZE
(v)  Appointed on January 28, 2011 vy RZZE——F—AZ+N\BEZ{E
(v) Resigned on February 28, 2011 (v) NR-E——F =B =+ /)\BFE
(vi)  Appointed on February 28, 2011 V) RZZE——FZAZ+/N\BEZ{E
(vii)  Removed on April 26, 2011 Vi) RZTE——FMNAZ+AHER
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For the year ended March 31, 2012 B Z —F—_—F=A=+—HIFE

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, three
(2011: three) were directors of the Company whose emoluments are
included in note 14. The emoluments of the remaining two (2011 two)
individuals including one individual before the appointment as director

during the year were as follows:

Salaries and other benefits

Retirement benefit scheme
contributions

Share-based payments

Hre MEMBERN
RIREAET B

BB R 3

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000
HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000

1,000,001 7T E1,500,0005 7T
2,000,001 7T 22,500,000 7T
4,000,001 7C £ 4,500,000 7T
5,000,00178 7T £5,500,0007%8 7T

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors as an
inducement to join the Group or as a compensation for loss of office

for both years.

No directors waived any emoluments during both years.

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED A BIA FIE R A PR A A)

rEEERFIRALEAT  Z&Z(ZF——
F:ZR)BRARRES - BEAMSERKE
14 HBME(ZE—F : WE)AT(H
F—RZEZERESIZ2FENSAT

2011
—E——1F
HK$'000
FHBT

8,616
21
718

9,355

wEzHeBEWT

2011
—E=——%F
No. of
employee

BEAH

TA 5% R 18] 6 &£ 7 5 (88 451 48 1) B =5 S A AT B
SAERMAREE 2 B HMEBAE -

MEEENZMEFEANRZTMNHNE -



For the year ended March 31, 2012 B Z —F—_—F=A=+—HIFE

Final dividend paid in respect of Bff&EE2=ZF——F=A=+—H
financial year ended IEBFE
March 31, 2011 of HK$0.022 FO0.0228TT (ZF——%F :
(2011: HK$0.017 in respect of ~ BREZE_ZT—ZEF=A=1+—H1t
financial year ended March 31,  BIBREESK0.017787T)
2010) per share 2 ARHARRE

A final dividend of HK$0.0392 in respect of the year ended March
31, 2012 (2011: final dividend of HK$0.022 in respect of the year
ended March 31, 2011) per share amounting to HK$171,816,000
has been proposed by the directors and is subject to approval by the
shareholders in the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable
to the owners of the Company is based on the following data:

Earnings for the purposes of FTEERER NS
basic and diluted earnings BRzBR(BIARAREE A
per share, being profit for FEMRFEEF)

the year attributable to
owners of the Company

2011
—E——1F
HK$'000
FET

61,077

EERBRBBE-_T—_F=ZA=+—
B It 4 E 8 %0.0392/8 t( — T — — 4
HE-_Z——F=A=1+-HBILEESK
00228 T Z RKERE) Z KR E - H
171,816,000/ 7 + MBS AR R A FE fE IR 3R
BEXSHEFAESR ©

ARRHEENEESRERREERF TR

THIERE

2011
—T——F
HK$'000
FET

625,896
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For the year ended March 31, 2012 B Z —F—_—F=A=+—HIFE

2011
—E——F
‘000
F A&
Weighted average number of AEERERZRNZ
ordinary shares for the purpose &A% ANHE F 15 8L
of basic earnings per share 3,837,014
Adjustment for effect of dilutive TRRETE S wERE
potential ordinary shares:
Share options R 4 449,193
Weighted average number of ATEEREERRN
ordinary shares for the purpose &A% ANHE F 15 8L
of diluted earnings per share 4,286,207
The diluted earnings per share for the year ended March 31, 2011 had HE-_ZT——F=—A=+—HIEFEZER
not assumed the conversion of convertible bonds issued by Zhongyu BERF W RBREPBARATREITZ A #%
Gas as it would increase the earnings per share, after taking into EEEER . DTRHINKHLERMNER 2
account of the effect of effective interest, change in fair value of 2 BOERETESS 2 AFEESLE
redemption option derivative components and gain on redemption of BB ES 2 WA SR (1 E)
the convertible bonds net of related tax expenses, if any. BAEBEEIRATIE o
HK$'000
FAET
At April 1, 2010 RZZE—EFMA—AH 343,158
Exchange adjustments M 5 38 B 10,082
Additions NE 2,220
Acquired on acquisition of I i TSRS PR TS
a business (note 42(B)(iv)) (B FE42(B)(Iv)) 5,618
Change in fair value NEEEH 47,057
At March 31, 2011 RZE——F=A=+—H 408,135
Exchange adjustments M 5 38 B 7,219
Deemed disposal of a RIELEWB AT
subsidiary (note 44) (PfF5E44) (6,245)
Change in fair value NEEEH 41,497
At March 31, 2012 RZE——F=A=+—H 450,600

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED A BIA FIE R A PR A A)



For the year ended March 31, 2012 B Z —F—_—F=A=+—HIFE

The Group'’s investment properties are analysed as follows:

Properties held under BEHRHBEOFE 2 ME
medium term leases:
- in Hong Kong —IRES
- in the PRC — A

The fair value of the Group's investment properties in Hong Kong
at March 31, 2012 has been arrived at on the basis of a valuation
carried out as at that date by LCH (Asia-Pacific) Surveyors Limited.
The resulting surplus of HK$2,670,000 (2011: HK$27,460,000) was
included in consolidated statement of comprehensive income. The
valuation was arrived at by reference to comparable market transactions
for similar properties.

The fair value of the Group'’s investment properties in the PRC has
been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out at these dates
by CB Richard Ellis Limited. The resulting surplus of HK$38,821,000
(2011: HK$19,697,000) was credited to consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. The valuation was arrived at by reference to
market evidence of transaction prices for similar properties in the same
locations and conditions.

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating leases to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are measured using
the fair value model and are classified and accounted for as investment
properties.

REBZREMEITWT

2011
—T——%F
HK$'000
FHT

105,880
302,255

408,135

AEBMURBEAZREDWER-_T—Z=F
—A=+—AZAFEREFZTAE
MAERABNZAETZIEESH - ALt
EHE 226700008 THB(ZT ——F:
27,460,000% 7t ) B I A 4R E 2 EH WA
Ko HENDSEEUMEZTRTERSE
ﬁ °

REBURPEZIEEME T A TETIRE
HHZRIBATHRARNZEB T Z(HE
B - b EA 238,821,0008 LA K=
T ——4F 1 19,607,000 7T ) E S AL A
EWRARE - HEDHSSBEUDERHER
BNERGHETZMERSERMSH °

AEEZBRBEEBOFEARBE S L
EREAREE 2 MEERTIARFEERR
ERBRYARCIFREDE
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For the year ended March 31, 2012 B Z —F——F=H=+—HIFE

Leasehold Machinery  Furniture

land and Construction and and Motor

buildings ~ Pipelines inprogress equipment  fixtures  vehicles  Vessels Total
HELH BER AR

i 22 BE #RIE R EExE AE fif &t
HKB000  HK$000  HKOOO  HKBOOD  HK$O00  HKOOO  HKBOOD  HK$000
Tén  TEm  TEn  TEr  TEr  TEr  TEn  TEn

cosT A

At Apil 1, 2010 R-F-FEMA-H 1485153 6143602 2365238 1741780 133849 207164 127,775 12,224.660
Bxchange adjustments Ef% 51351 261090 86372 78984 5675 10957 8410 502839
Additions TE 111237 138541 1335782 80951 35916 85257 121318 1909002
Acauired on acquisttion of businesses EEg T 79448 539959 267891 69,195 4043 3128 - 091794
Disposal for the year ERfE (6558)  (11,917) - Wman By (17837 - (8283%)
Disposal of a subsidiary HEHBAR - 18 - - - - - 1)
Disposal of a [ointly controlled entiy HELREHEE - - (371) (5%9) (350 (1383 - )
Reclassfication BT 200073 1044367 (1,733450) 399,010 - - - -
At March 31, 2011 RTB-—EZF=+-8 2010704 8114370 2321462 2307919 174021 335416 257503 15541395
Exchange adjustments EH% 37201 179085 51035 5574 404 TN 693 340915
Additions hE 5606 406492 1462520 102315 36207 52310 - 2115908
Acouired on acquistion of a business WEEBAHS 7437 919 - 5881 728 - - 14965
Disposal for the year R (333 (59,089 - (328) (3593 (8833 (59,951 (138050)
Disposal of a subsidiary HEHBAR (3,740) - - - (162) (121) - (402
Deemed disposal of a subsidiary RELENBAT (96,376)  (637,168) (342,040) (104,150) (4342  (35,502) - (1219578)
Reclassfication ETip] 76466 618667  (775967) 80,636 19 - - -
At March 31, 2012 RTB-"EZF=+-B 2084420 8623276 2717010 2464627 207171 350541 204487 16,651,532
DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT FERAE

At Apil 1, 2010 RZZ-ZEMA-A 9557 575,203 - 276847 4146 124034 2038 1139855
Exchange adjustments EHE% 4758 28747 - 144% 0 2017 510 1246 56400
Provided for the year Fhik 75464 280480 - 178975 16015 26228 21830 598,002
Eliminated on disposals HERER 1,389) (774) - BT (1313 (133%) - 1629
Eliminated on disposal of a ointly controlled entity HELFEHERRHRE - - - (144 [1,61) (487) - (18%)
At March 31, 2011 RZF-—%ZA=1-H 175300 883,676 - 3B BIEM 142421 43424 1741726
Exchange adjustments X% 3433 20,693 - 952 1409 3331 1060 39548
Provided for the year Fnik 06,854 265,161 - 183351 22049 24046 23708 556,069
Eliminated on disposals HERER (2,375 (16,546) - (1549 (3004 [1480)  (52.261)  (77,309)
Elminated on disposal of a subsidiary HENBR AR (1,242) - - - (121) (56) - (149
Elminated on deemed disposal of a subsidiary RIELENBLAENR (3703 (15,376) - (1) (714 (4084 - 3158
At March 31, 2012 RZE-ZF=f=1-H 238357 1,137,608 - B8BTET 82103 165128 15031 02207934
CARRYING VALUES BEE

At March 31, 2012 RoE--EZF=+-8 1846063 7485608 2717010 1875840 125048 185413  18B5G6 14423598
At March 31, 2011 RTE——EZF=+-8 1835314 7200604 2321462 1892708 112417 192995 214079 13,799,669
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For the year ended March 31, 2012 2 —ZFE——F=H=+—HIFE

The carrying value of land and buildings of the Group shown above
is situated on land with the following lease terms:

In Hong Kong NEBS
Long lease REFFAL

In PRC iy
Long lease REFFAL
Medium term lease FREARE AY

The pipelines of the Group are located in the PRC.

The above items of property, plant and equipment other than
construction in progress are depreciated on a straight-line basis at
the following rates per annum:

Leasehold land and buildings Over the shorter of the
remaining terms of the
leases or 50 years

Pipelines Over the shorter of 30 years
or the operation period of
the relevant company

Machinery and equipment 5% — 10%

Furniture and fixtures 15% — 50%

Motor vehicles 25%

Vessels 7% (new vessels acquired

from suppliers) or
34% (acquired from second
hand market)

At March 31, 2012, interest capitalised in construction in progress
amounted to HK$67,618,000 (2011: HK$63,836,000).

At March 31, 2012, the Group is in the process of obtaining title
deeds from relevant government authorities for its land and buildings
in the PRC amounting to HK$111,238,000 (2011: HK$137,687,000).
In the opinion of the directors, the Group is not required to incur
additional cost in obtaining the title deeds for its land and buildings
in the PRC.

At March 31, 2012, the directors of the Company considered that the
leasehold land and buildings elements in respect of certain properties
located in the PRC with carrying value of HK$114,250,000 (2011:
HK$108,428,000) cannot be separately identified.

AREBMRN Ll 302 HE L MEFT 28R
EENEBHEBNT

2011
-5
HK$'000
T

27,962

451,838
1,355,614

1,835,314
AEEZBREBMRPE -
EdmE - BEEREBHRB(TEEERT
)R BRI T A E R E

ME+TRET HEOBRTFHR0F

LSk
BiE SOFHABRARAZ
L FHREE
R s 5% — 10%
REMMLETFEEE  15% - 50%
RE 25%
MAa T%(HHEREAZ
Fann) sk

34% (R —FWmIHBEA)

R-_ZE——F=A=+—H ExaEagIliE
Bz F B A67,6180008T(ZT——F:
63,836,000 7T) °

NRZZE—-——F=A=+—H0  X&EHIFE
BLEB{E111,288,0008 t( — & — — 4 :
137,687,000 7T ) AR Bl 2 - ih RAEF -
REBBTHBEERMBEERY EFR
B ARBETSABERP R L MEFZAT
BRERLME L REINLA ©

R-Z——F=ZA=+—H ARAESFRA
BETARFEZYEERmE 14,250,000
BIL(ZZ ——4F : 108,428,000/ 7T ) 2 H
X RIEFEH S EESFHBA
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The Group’s prepaid lease rEEZBENEE
payments comprise: RIEBLE

Leasehold land in the PRC Rz HE L
Long lease REAFAL
Medium term lease HR AR AV

Analysed for reporting BLERIRE M2 DT
purposes as:
Non-current portion FERNERER (D
Current portion IR

The leasehold land and land use rights are charged to consolidated
statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the
term of the leases.

At March 31, 2012, the Group is in the process of obtaining title deeds
from relevant government authorities for its prepaid lease payments in
the PRC amounting to HK$25,541,000 (2011: HK$93,971,000). In the
opinion of the directors, the Group is not required to incur additional
cost in obtaining the title deeds for its prepaid lease payments in
the PRC.

Cost of investments in associates: B REEE A F]Z KA
Listed in Hong Kong REBA LT

Unlisted FE LT

Share of pre-acquisition dividend 21 Uk B BT A% 2.

Share of post-acquisition profit 4 W B 18 5 1) K

and other comprehensive H2mEmBRA
income (net of dividend (F0BR AT AR B.)
received)

Discount on acquisition U BB B N B 2 IR

of associates

Fair value of listed investments, W& AFE
based on quoted market price (EMISHRETE)

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED A BIA FIE R A BR A A)

2011
HK$'000
TAT

561,604
611,708

1,163,212

1,128,929
34,283

1,163,212

THE T30 & £+ 36 A B AOXIRE EF 5 ALR
BEHBAREK °

R-B——F=ZA=+—0 A&EETREBEE
25,541,000 7L ( Z&——4F : 93,971,000/ 7T )iz
REBEZEMAERE  #EHEBUTREERRE
BRY - EERA AEBETSRERTREBENAE
BB AR M ESREINKA ©

2011
—ET——%F
HK$'000
T

719,641
(1,296)

58,190

232,970
1,009,505
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The Group had interests in the following associates:

Name of entity

RRER

EEM/IRRATRER
BRAR

EERUEERHARLA

EEMALEENRAR
ARAF

REETERRERRLLA

+

HRLRERAA

i
3t
[
=

>

REABIEERERAR

HLEREESRAAR
ARAA

Form of
business structure

ES R

Sino-foreign equity
joint venture

PHRELE

Sino-foreign equity
joint venture

PHEELE

Sino-foreign equity
joint venture

PHEELE

Sino-foreign equity
joint venture

PHARELR

Limited liability
company

BREART

Limited liability
company
BREFAR

Limited liability
company
BREEAA

Place of
registration/
incorporation
/A
5%

PRC

e

PRC

T

PRC

i

PRC

FE

PRC

e

PRC

ik

PRC

FE

Principal
place of
operation
TEER
wH

PRC

HE

PRC

i

PRC

il

PRC

FE

PRC

HE

PRC

TE

PRC

FE

AR A T B A T S

Proportion of
nominal value

of registered/

Class of issued capital
capital held by the Group Principal activities
KEBAEER/
BAER ERTRAEELA TEER
2012 2011
“E--f —Z——F
% %
Registered 44.00 44.00 Sales of natural gas,
gas pipeline construction
B RARHE MAEERR
Registered 38.69 38.69 Exploration, collection
transportation, purification
and sales of natural gas
i B K& EH FLR
HEXRAR
Registered 47.83 47.83 Sales of natural gas
Bl RARHE
Registered 48.00 48.00 Sales of nature gas and
gas pipeline construction
B} RARHERMAEERR
Registered 33.20 33.20 Sales of LPG
B BERILAAR
Registered 29.05 29.05 Refining process, storage
of LPG
Bl RIEERRREGRNIEE K7
Registered 25.00 25.00 Sales of natural gas,
gas pipeline construction
Bl RARHE MAEERR
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Name of entity

REZR

BRERRARARLR

BNRABEERRERLE

EMEZRAERAT

EMNFHRRERAR
(FRMH])

Zhongyu Gas

PRIEAAT

Panva Gas Holdings Limited
("Panva Gas’)

BIRRERARAR
(TEIIHAL)

Form of
business structure

EBRELA

Limited liability
company
BEREAAR

Limited liability
company
BREEAA

Limited liability
company

AREART

Limited liability
company
BREFAR

Limited liability
company

Limited liability
company

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED A BIA FIE R A BR A A)
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Place of Principal
registration/  place of
incorporation  operation

iR TRER

wH ok
PRC PRC
h E
PRC PRC
hE FE
PRC PRC
PE TE
PRC PRC
h E
Cayman PRC
Island

REES T

British PRC

Virgin

Islands

('BVI")

ABRXEE  TH
((RERLZEE))

Class of
capital

el

Registered

Bl

Registered

B

Registered

it

Registered

Bl

Ordinary

Ordinary

Proportion of
nominal value
of registered/
issued capital
held by the Group

REBAEEM/
BRTRAEERLA
2012 2011

—E—- —E——f
% %

24,00 24.00
24,00 24,00
24.00 24.00
40.00 40.00
44,07 -
(note a) (note a)

(W) (Wfia)

49.00 -
(note b)

(Fit&En)

Principal activities

IREH

Sales of natural gas
RARHE
Sales of natural gas,

gas pipeline construction
RARHE MATERR
Sales of natural gas
RARHE
Sales of LPG
BERILAMR
Investment holding,

sales of natural

gas and gas pipeline

construction
RERE  AASHER

RREEER

Investment holding,
sales of LPG

RARR  HERLRAR
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Notes:

During the year March 31, 2012, Zhongyu Gas, which is listed
on Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange, ceased
to be a subsidiary of the Group and become an associate as a
result of the share placing by Zhongyu Gas as detailed in note
44 which has been completed on April 18, 2011. The Group’s
effective interest in Zhongyu Gas was reduced from approximately
56.33% to approximately 46.96%. On the same date, the fair
value of the interests in Zhongyu Gas held by the Company is
HK$867,309,000.

On November 11, 2011 and March 24, 2012, 30,200,000 options
and 124,800,000 options were exercised at exercised price of
HK$0.49 per share in accordance with the share option scheme
of Zhongyu Gas. As a result of the exercises of share options,
the Group's effective interest in Zhongyu Gas was reduced
from approximately 46.96% to approximately 46.37% and from
approximately 46.37% to approximately 44.07% respectively. The
aggregate amount of gain on deemed disposals of an associate of
HK$2,370,000 was recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income for the year ended March 31, 2012.

On March 10, 2011, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
entered into an equity transfer agreement (“Equity Transfer Agreement”)
with independent third parties (“Panva Gas Vendors”) to acquire
100% equity interest in Panva Gas at a total cash consideration of
HK$530,000,000. Panva Gas is an investment holding company
and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in retail business of LPG
in the PRC. Total deposit of HK$133,627,000 was paid for the year
ended March 31, 2011.

On June 4, 2011, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
entered into the supplemental agreement with Panva Gas Vendors
to amend and supplement the Equity Transfer Agreement, pursuant
to which (i) a subsidiary of the Company has conditionally agreed to
purchase and Panva Gas Vendors have conditionally agreed to sell
49% of the entire shares of Panva Gas for a total cash consideration
of HK$259,700,000; and (i) Panva Gas Vendors have agreed to
grant the call option (“Call Option”) to the Group for acquiring the
remaining 51% issued shares of Panva Gas held by Panva Gas
Vendors at a total cash consideration of HK$270,300,000 within
1 year after the completion of the acquisition of 49% of the entire
shares of Panva Gas by the Group (“Option Exercise Period”). The
exercise of Call Option to acquire the remaining 51% issued shares
of Panva Gas is subjected to obtaining of the substantive approvals
for anti-trust application from the relevant competent PRC authorities.
The acquisition of 49% issued shares of Panva Gas was completed
in June 2011. Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company entered into second
supplemental agreement with Panva Gas Vendors. The details of
second supplemental agreement are set out in note 53.

GhE

REBE-_ZT——F=A=+—HIF
B PR (REERZTAIZER L)
RZE——FWOA+N\BEXERHNE
EEHE(FRMT44)  BHAMMER
TBAAEENBRARMKAELEE
B AR AREERFHRMRARNER
I8 2 H #956.33%8% = #946.96% ° [F]
B RNAGIFFHRRRAERZ AT
{B/5867,309,000/8 7T °

RZE——F+—A+—BR=Z—
“EZA-+mA - BEFHBRRRZ
88 % #E 51 & 30,200,000 B % 4
$124,800,00017) 8 A% #E & & B%0.49
PEILZ AT EREITE - BRTTERER
o REBRPRRTNERISRZ
2 Bl B 4746.06% % 2= 4946.37% K A 49
46.37%[EEHI44.07% © RIEH EHE 2
NE|Z KB FE2 370,000 TR EE
TE-—E-A=Z+-HULEEEZE
AEEBARE TR -

RZZTE——F=A+8 ARA2%E
MEAREBYE=H(AINRE
AT Sz ([ REEER
% 1) 0 BAB30,000,000/8 7T 2 #2838 &
BREBTINREIRE - BIMR
BIREER AR EWNBRREERE
FREYEREARINTEER - B
2-F——F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE "
B X4 858 5133,627, 00078 7T °

R-ZZE——FXAWNB  ARFEE
WEARHEBE IR E HR] LT
FEo BRI MR EEERE - B
It (VAR R B A B A &R E Uk EE
FEIRREFBERKHERELERT
MR 2D 249% LIRS REA
259,700,000/ 7t : RiVB/IRAEH
REMAEERTREHERED
B URAEESEKBEEINRT
2 ER D 249%% — F ([ RETTE
HDREETIRAESATFEEIRE
BIS1% 2 BEITRG - BRERER
270,300,000/ 7T c FFRREBHERE
B EREEEBFR - HATERE
A B TR RSB T 1% 2 B 3TT
B o WHE B TR RA0%E 1T (D —
EERZZE——FNATK - RIRE
HRZ%E ARARIZENBRARIEST
IMRBESEILE AR HE - &
T RTE R 2 FEIBE M EESS ©
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At March 31, 2012, included in the cost of investment in associates

For the year ended March 31, 2012 B Z —F—_—F=A=+—HIFE

is goodwill of HK$690,741,000 (2011: nil).

The financial year end date for Zhongyu Gas is December 31. For the
purpose of applying the equity method of accounting, the consolidated
financial statements of Zhongyu Gas for the year ended December 31,
2011 (2011: not applicable) have been used as the Group considers
that it is impracticable for Zhongyu Gas with its shares listed on the
Stock Exchange to provide a separate and complete set of financial
statements as of March 31. Appropriate adjustments have been made
accordingly for the effects of significant transactions between that date

and March 31, 2012.

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s associates

is set out below:

Total assets
Total liabilities
Non-controlling interests

Net assets

The Group’s share of
associates’ net assets

Revenue
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income

The Group’s share of results
and other comprehensive
income of associates
for the year

BERE
EEEE

=i

FEER s
BEFE

REBDIEBERTFEE

F R A
Hip 2 EUA

AEESEHELT
FEEERHMRERA
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REZE-—"F=A=+—H &
RE KA BIEREE690,741,000/8 T(ZF—
—F |

I
kel
N

PRz BRFEEER AT _A=1—
H- BEBESSE  ASECER+TH
MERBE-_T——F+-A=+—BLEFE
ZIEATBBRR(ZT——F  NER) - R
EAEREER AP RRE (RGBT =
)RR N = A=+ B 2B B
MMz - ARECHABELBEZHE - U
kMZAE—_T——_F=-A=+—HHMx
ERNEARS o

REBZBERAZHBEEB EH T M
™

2011
—ET——%F
HK$'000
FHT

4,372,396
(2,010,202)

2,362,194

1,009,605
1,493,154

23,825

15,856
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As at March 31, 2012 and 2011, the Group had interests in the
following significant jointly controlled entities:

Name of entity

151

BN RETRRARAF
(TMgR])

BHRRATRRERERAA

WAERT AT RARE
BRARA

BNPRATRRERERLA

BEPRNEIAERRARLA

Form of
business structure

EBRELA

Sino-foreign equity
joint venture

PHEELE

Sino-foreign equity
joint venture

PHEELE

Sino-foreign equity
joint venture

PHEELE

Sino-foreign equity
joint venture

PHEELE

Sino-foreign equity
joint venture

PhaELR

Place of
registration/
incorporation
/R
W

PRC

e

PRC

P

PRC

i

PRC

HE

PRC

G

Principal
place of
operation
TEEX
W

PRC

G

PRC

il

PRC

T

PRC

FE

PRC

HE

Class of
capital

el

Registered

it

Registered

s

Registered

i

Registered

i

Registered

Bl

R-_E——_FR-ZT——F=A=+—Q0"
ARERNTE2ARRGEETHRA®

NV

Proportion of
nominal value
of registered/
issued capital
held by the Group

REBAEEM/
BRTRAEELA
2012 2011
“5--f Z%——f%
% %

50.0 50.0

50.0 50.0

51.0 51.0

49.0 49.0

50.0 50.0

Bi#% R % FINANCIAL REPORT 2012

Principal activity

IREH

Sales of natural gas
and gas pipeline
construction
AARHERMREBRE

Sales of natural gas
and gas pipeline
construction

ARFHERMAEBRR

Sales of natural gas
and gas pipeline
construction

ARFHERMAEBRR

Sales of natural gas
and gas pipeline
construction
RABHERMAEERR

Nature gas refill service
and gas station
administration

ARRMRIRS R ER MR
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Proportion of

nominal value
Place of Principal of registered/
Form of registration/  place of Class of issued capital
Name of entity business structure incorporation operation capital held by the Group Principal activity
/A TEEE KEBER/
ERER EBRERA W HE BRAER BRTRAEELS TEEH
2012 2011
—E-—C —E——&
% %
China Gas - SK Energy Holdings Incorporated Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary 50.0 50.0 Sales of natural gas
Company Limited and gas pipeline
construction
Bl ik i ! RARHERMAEERR
China Oman Energy Company Incorporated Bermuda Hong Kong Ordinary 50.0 50.0 Development of energy
Limited import projects from
Middle East to PRC
Al BRE ik il FRERE ZRREAER R
FERRRERAR Equity joint venture PRC PRC Registered 51.0 51.0 Sales of natural gas
REARE B E Bl RARHE
Fujian Anran Gas Investment Limited liability PRC PRC Registered 49.0 49.0 Investment holding
Company Limited company
(*Fufian Anran")
BRERAAREERAA BREEARF HE PE Bl RAZR
([RRZA])
EERBAARBEAREMLAR  Limited liabilty PRC PRC Registered 49.0 49.0 Sales of natural gas
company and gas pipeline
construction
BREEAT HE P Bl RASHERMAEERR
WHFRRARERAR Limited liability PRC PRC Registered 40.0 40.0 Sales of natural
company gas and gas pipeline
construction
BREEAR HE P Bl RARHERMAEERR

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED A BIA FIE R A BR A A)



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

For the year ended March 31, 2012 E—F——#=ZF=+—HIFEF

22. Investments in Jointly Controlled Entities
(Continued)

As all the major financial and operating decisions of the above entities
require unanimous consent from all venturers, they are accounted for
as jointly controlled entities.

The summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s
jointly controlled entities which are accounted for using proportionate
consolidation with the line-by-line reporting format is set out below:

22, RAFEZEFERZRE(E)

MR LB R 2 P A M2 @R E R
BAEE-HRENEB  SALRARRE /KL
RIS ER-ARR

A2 SRR B A A RS TR PR
A5 - WATHIHHEELLR -

2012 2011
—E-——F —T——1F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT T
Current assets mENEE 1,113,156 1,024,210
Non-current assets ERBEE 3,774,926 3,371,694
Current liabilities EAE (1,495,777) (1,274,550)
Non-current liabilities EmEI AR (761,509) (802,121)
Income recognised in REBmERZ WA
profit or loss 2,500,939 2,031,638
Expenses recognised in BRI
profit or loss (2,276,593) (1,862,207)
23. Available-for-sale Investments 23. AHERE
2012 2011
—E——fF —E——%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Equity securities listed in RER LM 2BAZES - BATEIIE
Hong Kong, at fair value 9,054 15,908
Unlisted equity securities, I LETRAFS - R AEHE(FIREE)
at cost less impairment 62,451 64,929
Club debenture, at fair value ES  BAFENE 5,153 5,047
76,658 85,884
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Equity securities listed in Hong Kong are stated at fair value. The fair
values of listed equity securities are based on quoted market bid
price. Change in fair value of the listed equity securities classified as
available-for-sale investments for the year ended March 31, 2012 with
a decrease of HK$6,854,000 (2011: an increase of HK$2,678,000)
was recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

Unlisted equity securities issued by private entities incorporated in the
PRC. Those private entities are engaged in the sales and distribution
of LPG in the PRC. They are measured at cost less impairment at the
end of the reporting period because the range of reasonable fair value
estimates is so significant that the directors of the Company are of the
opinion that their fair values cannot be measured reliably.

Club debentures are stated at fair value. Fair value of the club debenture
has been determined by reference to the bid prices quoted in the
second hand market. No fair value change was recognised in both
years.

COoSsT RAE

At April 1, 2010 RZZE—ZEFMA—AH
Exchange adjustments HE 54 8 B

Arising on acquisition of =4 B U iE & (M E42)

businesses (note 42)

RZE——F=A=+—RH(EH)
M 5 38 2

EH B TS (M15T42)

At March 31, 2011 (restated)
Exchange adjustments
Arising on acquisition of

a business (note 42)
Deemed disposal of

a subsidiary (note 44)

BIEHEWMB AR (HE44)

R-E——-—F=ZA=+—H

CARRYING VALUES BREE
At March 31, 2012 RZE——F=A=+—H

WZE——F=A=+—H(F5]

At March 31, 2012

At March 31, 2011 (restated)

The Group tests for impairment of goodwill annually and in the financial
year in which the acquisition takes place, or more frequently if there
are indications that goodwill might be impaired. Particulars regarding
impairment testing on goodwill are disclosed in note 25.

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED A BIA FIE R A BR A A)

REB LM ZBRABELETRAFEIE - E
MRARFSZ A FEDREMRZTISEA
BET REBEE-_ZT——F£=A=+—H1F
FE - WREAMMHILERE Y FHRAE
F 2 N AR 16,854,000 (=T —
—4F : §hN2,678,0008 70 RERA 2 E A
MRMER o

3F b7 AR AN 55 a0 R B AR A SL 2 FAA
AIEAT  RERARREFERF R
RHERDHEL - IS HARLRAN
BRRERE - RRAGEATEMGT ZHE
AR ARAIEERE - ARFETEAE
HETE

SRESFTVRAFEIR - @fERZAF

BNE2E_FHEMBIEABETE ° %
M EF ZEH I |ER N T EES -

HK$'000
TAET

900,577
53,987
580,762

1,635,326
37,889

43,323

(577,947)
1,038,591

1,038,691
1,635,326

REEREBFRRETREZ TRFEHTS
AREEESRE  EERRKAERE
AR - 2 EARAR - BEmERE R
2B RIS -
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Management considered each subsidiary or jointly controlled entity

represents a separate CGU for the purpose of goodwill impairment

testing.

The carrying amounts of goodwill as at March 31, 2012 and 2011 as
included in note 24 are allocated as follows:

Subsidiaries or jointly
controlled entities engaged
in natural gas business

Clever Decision Enterprise Limited

BRI TR R R
BRAR (‘BN

I RFEARRE AR AR

HDJH R pA

Positive Rise Energy Limited

WERRESERARAA]

Brilliant China Investments Limited
(“Brilliant China”)

& A T AR B R
BIRAE (‘EEFR)

ESPREmMRERE
BRAB(EGHR

HTIKBRRER DA
(HIHIRBIRR)

Zhongyu Gas

Other CGUs

Subsidiaries engaged in
LPG business
Zhongyou Hua Dain Energy
Co. Ltd (“Zhongyou Hua Dian”)
FEERMBERATR
(LEER)
BREERRIRE
BRAB(EERIR)

RERRREBKN
MEBARRAREFERE

Clever Decision Enterprise Limited
BINF A TR ERBR AR
(TN AR L)

L RAPEARIER AR QA

0 e A

Positive Rise Energy Limited
HMERRESERAERAA]

Brilliant China Investments Limited
(T Brilliant Chinal)

FER R TRARERER AR
(TREHKR])

ESR TR R
BRARTEEBHRR])

HATRBRRER AR
(THMATRBIR])

FAR AR

HIRGEE SN

REBCABRER ZHED R

PHEERRBRAF
(MHihmEE )

ERERMBERRA]
(TLEBER]D)

BREELRREBRAA
(MEZEREIR])

i

SRERA  REBAENATE - S
ANKAEHERREBT RS ELE

P mR

/

\

=

M4BT ——F R ——F=H
=+t -ANEENREESENT

2011
=T
HK$'000
T

146,777
46,402
16,095
68,337

108,660
55,6056

108,433
15,462
28,106
31,482

577,947
97,676

218,373

25,972

1,635,326
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The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined based on
value in use calculations. The key assumptions for the value in use
calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates and
expected changes to selling prices and direct costs during the period.
Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the CGUs. The growth rates are based on industry growth
forecasts. Changes in selling prices and direct costs are based on
past practices and expectations of future changes in the market.

The Group prepares cash flows forecasts derived from the most recent
financial budgets approved by management for the next five years.
The CGUs cashflows beyond the 5-year period until the expiry of
the relevant operation period or exclusive rights ranging from 15 to
30 years are extrapolated using a steady 3% (2011: 3%) growth rate
for CGUs in the natural gas business and 5% (2011: 5%) for CGUs
in the LPG business. The financial budgets and growth rates are
estimated according to the stage of each operation with reference to
the development curve of the natural gas and LPG industries in the
PRC region. The rates used to discount the forecast cash flows for
CGUs are from 13% to 15% (2011: 14% to 16%). In the opinion of
the directors, no material impairment loss is identified for both years.
Management believes that any reasonably possible change in any of
these assumptions would not cause the aggregate carrying amount of
CGUs to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount of CGUs.

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED A BIA FIE R A BR A A)

ReEESBU s mREEDREREEE
Eo Rt EEREBEIZBRRAMASE T
HE BEXDEHREHREEKRANE - E
BEERRREMFGEEEZEREIRRSE
B2 FERBR AT RAEFHTINE -
BERREANRHERET - EEEHLE
ERAEBEBY KRBTSR K 2 E i

BETE °

AN EAR IR B I B LA R R AR 2 ST AR
BEERHACREREE - BERXARER
EBREABAREBEIFHEEZEBLEH
FBRELEEAR (N T 15FEZ0FTFE)
fEmzBeEEEMRSRENDRRARE
FEWREIY (ZFE——F : 3%) ®26% (ZF
——F 5%)ETHE - MBEERIERE
DIRESER 2 EREBE G2 EFETR
ZRARRBRACABRITHE Z ERMFEM
e ARBARSELENZEESREN
ML EBRIGHEIS% (ZFE——F : 14%=
16%) 1% - EFZRA  REZMEFERES
A SHRBEREE BEERABUNLRR

FRMEEAIEEEANESHTSBRIRCE
EENZ REAEBBHE AT BEE -



For the year ended March 31, 2012 B Z —F—_—F=A=+—HIFE

Exclusive

rights of Other

natural gas operating Customer Technical
operations rights Relationship  expertise Total
RAREBZ

BREER HttGEE FFPEE SEREW st

HK$000  HKE000 — HK$000  HKE000  HKEO000
TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT

COST RAE
At April 1, 2010 RZZE—ZFMYHA—AH 1,269,338 - 15,000 13,637 1,297,975
Exchange adjustments PE 47,160 1,231 536 487 49,414
Acquired on acquisition of EAaWIEES (ME42)
businesses (note 42) 131,849 60,218 - - 192,067
At March 31, 2011 (restated) R-—E——F=A=+—H 1,448,347 61,449 15,536 14,124 1,539,456
(E31)
Exchange adjustments M H 3% 33,101 - 379 344 33,824
Deemed disposal of a subsidiary 1R {ELE M B A ) (91,143) (61,449) - - (152,592)
At March 31, 2012 RZE——F=ZA=+—H 1,390,306 - 15,915 14,468 1,420,688
AMORTISATION ey
At April 1, 2010 RZZE—FTFMA—H 36,576 - 4,794 1,930 43,300
Exchange adjustments b 5 2,634 48 207 85 2,974
Charge for the year F Y 45,017 1,776 1,500 681 48,974
At March 31, 2011 RZE——F=HA=+—H 84,207 1,824 6,501 2,696 95,248
Exchange adjustments ME H F R 1,990 - 159 66 2,215
Eliminated on deemed disposal BRAIEL EM B AT
of a subsidiary & ER (2,663) (1,824) - - (4,487)
Charge for the year FREH 44,082 - 1,500 682 46,264
At March 31, 2012 RZE——F=A=+—H 127,636 - 8,160 3,444 139,240
CARRYING VALUES IRTEE
At March 31, 2012 RZE——F=ZA=+—H 1,262,669 - 7,755 11,024 1,281,448
At March 31, 2011 (restated) RZZE——F=A=+—H
(E7)) 1,364,120 59,625 9,035 11,428 1,444,208
Note: The exclusive rights of natural gas operations, other operating rights, s : RAREBZBRKEHE - s
customer relationship and technical expertise are amortised on a ¥ RXPHEEARLREBEMO BN =+
straight-line method over the period of 30 years, 27 years, 10 years F—++E -+ ER-+FZEHH
and 20 years respectively. T AJE 2 o
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For the year ended March 31, 2012 B Z —F—_—F=A=+—HIFE

Included in the balance of amounts due from associates are loans
of HK$181,932,000 (2011: HK$163,166,000) which are unsecured,
interest bearing at fixed rates ranging from 5.31% to 7.22% per
annum (2011: 5.31% to 5.56% per annum). The remaining balance
of HK$84,792,000 (2011: HK$92,115,000) are of trade nature aged
within 180 days based on invoice date. A credit period of 30 to 180
days is granted to these trade customers. As at March 31, 2012, the
balance of HK$141,932,000 (2011: HK$163,166,000) is expected to
be repayable after one year and shown under non-current assets. The
remaining balance is expected to be repayable within twelve months
and shown under current assets. All balances are neither past due
nor impaired at the reporting date as there has not been a significant
change in credit quality and the Group believes that the amounts are
considered recoverable.

The non-trade balance of amounts due to associates are unsecured,
non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

Construction materials EM

Consumables, spare parts JEREM ~ BRI YR
and coke materials

Natural gas KAR,

LPG BAL AR

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED A BIA FIE R A PR A A)

ARABKE S AR REEHBRZBEX
181,932,000/ L(=ZF ——4 : 163,166,000
BT DEER  REF1ERET 22E(Z
T——F : §F531EE5.56E) 2 EEFI=E
ET B - BR%ES4,792,0008 T( T — — £ ¢
92,115,000 L) BE SHME - BRICAHER
HERBFT180BN - AEEMZEEHTF
BFIOBEISOHZEEH - RZT—Z=F
Z“A=+—H8  #&141,932,000& (=&
——% : 163,166,000/ 7T ) FE- AR —F 1%
BE Wit AERBEE - REEBETAET
ZEAREE U ARBEE - HNEE
BERWEEANRE  BAEEREEESSE
BERTUE - RREBE - FTBEERY
A RORE o

ENBERARFESEHRAEER 281

2011
T F
HK$'000
THT

367,341
282,616

31,349
395,319

1,076,625



For the year ended March 31, 2012 B E —F——F=H=+—HIFE

29. Amounts Due from (to) Customers for Contract 29. EW () BFE 2SN T2IE
Work

2012 2011
—E——fF ZE——fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTExT FET
Contracts in progress at end of ~ RIREHRZERITIRE -
the reporting period:
Contract costs incurred plus BE1S 2 & LKA INE FER
recognised profits less sa AR B MR E 1R
recognised losses 584,132 427,427
Less: Progress bilings B EE R (655,280) (546,271)
(71,148) (118,844)
Analysed for reporting E2WMABEDIT -
purposes as:
Amounts due from customers EWEFZAKHITIERIA
for contract work 173,519 166,884
Amounts due to customers ERNEPZEHITEFKIEA
for contract work (244,667) (285,728)
(71,148) (118,844)

At March 31, 2012 and 2011, there was no retention monies held by
customers for contract work performed. At March 31, 2012, advances
received from customers for contract work not yet commenced
amounted to HK$939,156,000 (2011: HK$929,962,000) which were
included in trade and other payables in note 33.

RN—ZE——ER T ——F=A=+—
B WERBAREBEEATEPHREETZAN
IRmMERE - R-_BE——F==+—
H BERAEMARAZANIBRZERPKERZ
# 3% 5939,156,000 t( = & — — F ¢
929,062,000/ L) * WEFIAKFIZZE S
FETBR R R E M FE A BRI -
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For the year ended March 31, 2012 B Z —F—_—F=A=+—HIFE

2011
—E——fF
HK$'000
&
Trade receivables B 5 ERT 1,118,704
Less: Accumulated allowances B REHEE (237,692)
Trade receivables B SRR 881,012
Deposits paid for construction TIREEMVEE RS
and other materials 193,644
Deposits paid for purchase of BERARRBREABRRENZE
natural gas and LPG 341,648
Advance payments to BN THBEE IR
sub-contractors 209,616
Tender deposits "R E 595
Rental and utilities deposits i SUNEE S5 23,599
Other tax recoverable HAthr]Ug Bl T I8 106,328
Other receivables and deposits Hipfr U ERIE R IZ S 200,337
Prepaid operating expenses TERHEERY 194,858
Amounts due from non-controlling  FEWFT B A B JEIE A e 2 7108
interests of subsidiaries 84,472
Amounts due from shareholders — FEUK kB2 I B RE AR R FE
of jointly controlled entities 152,032
Total trade and other receivables B 5 FEUBRFR & H b FEUL AR IE 42 %8 2,388,040
Other than certain major customers with good repayment history which GETRREERF T ERPEAERE
the Group allows a longer credit period or settlement by instaiment FERREEHS DN KEB—K
basis, the Group generally allows an average credit period of 30 to MHEESEFIRETFI30-180A ZZEH -
180 days to its trade customers.
The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables net of impairment REEEAR - IR ZOERY 2B 5 EWEE
losses presented based on invoice date at the end of the reporting RHBERRE) ZREDHTIOT ¢
period:
2011
—_E——%
HK$'000
FHT
0 - 180 days 0-180H 680,125
181 — 365 days 181 - 365H 101,498
Over 365 days 3658 A £ 99,389
881,012

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED A BIA FIE R A PR A A)



For the year ended March 31, 2012 B Z —F—_—F=A=+—HIFE

The trade receivables with carrying amount of HK$1,083,664,000
(2011: HK$680,125,000) are neither past due nor impaired at the
reporting date for which the Group believes that the amounts are
considered recoverable.

The Group has policies for allowance of bad and doubtful debts
which are based on the evaluation of collectability and age analysis
of accounts and on the management’s judgment including the credit
creditworthiness and the past collection history of each customer.

During the year ended March 31, 2012, the Group made an allowance
of HK$2,290,000 (2011: HK$7,383,000) in respect of the trade
receivables related to the gas pipeline construction business, which
was past due at the reporting date with long age and slow repayments
were received from respective customers since the due date. The
directors of the Company considered the related receivables may be
impaired and specific allowance is made.

Movement in the allowance for bad and doubtful debts:

Balance at the beginning FYER
of the year

Exchange differences M =R

Charge for the year FERE

Balance at the end of the year FIEERR

In determining the recoverability of the trade receivables, the Group
considers any change in the credit quality of the trade receivables
from the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date.
The trade receivables past due but not provided for impairment were
either subsequently settled as at the date these consolidated financial
statements were authorised for issuance or no historical default of
payments by the respective customers. The concentration of credit
risk is limited due to the customer base being large and unrelated.
Accordingly, the directors of the Company believe that there is no
further credit provision required in excess of the allowance for bad
and doubtful debts.

AR T f81,083,664,00078 7T Z & 5 & I BR 3%
—F——%:680,1250008 L) ¥ & A
B i Bk IR RE - AR ERER
AT RAR A FT A

AR B 2 RIFIR BB IR TIAR B8 D SR IA
EZHERRBZRE DT WIRIBERE
HERFEBREP ZEARNRNGREEAEZH
B o

REE-_ZT——F=-—A=+—HILFER "
REENEBREEERERER I EIE
U B # 1E 12,200,000 Jt( — & — — 4 ¢
7,383,000 7T ) 2 it - RABZERIER
REBHEASR  ERRARBEBEERFS
RERBERZ ERREEE - AAAIES
RAEBBERBFIERSRE - WIEL TR
1o

RERRBEY

2011
—T——F
HK$'000
FET

221,497
8,812
7,383

237,692

HE S SRR RS REE - AREEE
BEZRUWERZEREXREEEMRILH
EHEEWRE RSB A - BEE
AMEMIBEZ B 5 RBRE FER RN AR
EUBHRRERETERZADEN  BER
WEBEHBRERLEZEF - AREFE
HEERARLTHEE REEETRRE
R B RARZEFEREHANRERE
BAIME — TR EE 2 -
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For the year ended March 31, 2012 B Z —F—_—F=A=+—HIFE

Included in the Group’s trade receivables are debtors, with a carrying
amount of HK$206,248,000 (2011: HK$200,887,000) which are past
due at the reporting date for which the Group has not provided as there
has not been a significant change in credit quality and the amount are
still considered recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral
over these balances. The average age of these trade receivable is
270 days (2011: 270 days) as at March 31, 2012,

Ageing of trade receivables which are past due but not impaired:

180 — 365 days
Over 365 days

180 — 365H
365HA E

The non-trade balances of amounts due from non-controlling interests
of subsidiaries and shareholders of jointly controlled entities are
unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

Equity securities at fair value
listed in Hong Kong

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED A BIA FIE R A PR A A)

BAHEAHEZEE EMRAES

AEBCZESRRERTRIEERE
206,248,000 T 2 R HK(ZF — — F:
200,887,000/ 7T) * ZERBERHRERHED
B BEASEEERNEEEEREERNE L
BB AR A AT U e i R IR R - A
SEWERZEEHRIFTEEMER - RZF
——H=ZA=+—H8 ZSEIRUERZ
THEEE A27T0R (ZE——%F : 2708) ©

EEHERINERE 2B 5 EIRZR Z Rk
DT -

2011
=T
HK$'000
TAT
101,498
99,389

200,887

FE BT 8 A RISF IR AR M 25 M KR 1 ) B A8 A
RAAEZFE BRI REER 28 HA
WENREER -

2011
e
HK$'000
THT

11,948



For the year ended March 31, 2012 B Z —F—_—F=A=+—HIFE

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and short-
term bank deposits with an original maturity of three months or less
and carry interest at market rates which range from 0.01% to 2.08%
per annum (2011: 0.03% to 1.83% per annum).

Pledged bank deposits represent deposits pledged to banks to
secure banking facilities granted to the Group. Deposits amounting
to HK$710,459,000 (2011: HK$1,647,444,000) have been pledged
to secure short-term bank loans and undrawn short-term facilities and
are therefore classified as current assets. The pledged bank deposits
carry fixed interest rate of 1.10% to 3.50% (2011: 1.10% to 4.12%)
per annum.

The details of the Group’s pledged bank deposits and bank balances
and cash which are denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the respective group entities are set out below:

At March 31, 2012 R-ZZE——F=A=+—H

At March 31, 2011

RITEHR MRS BRAREFEZRHERE
AR =8 A AR 2 B HRIT IR %
BF001EE208E(ZE——%F : H50.03
EE1.83E)2MmBHEAE -

BEMRITFEHRIEANSE FASE ZRTT
B & R TR 1T 2 F 5K 0 710,459,000
TT(=Z——4 : 1,647,444,000/8TC) Z1F K
EEEEUREEHETERRRIERZE
HimE Ao BEARBEE - BIEIPRT
FHRIREFEI10EES0E(ZE——F
F110EZE412E) 2 EEF KB -

AEBENSHBAEEER ZINEEEIAINZ
SNEFHE Z EERMIRI TR RIA RIRTT AR N
ReZFIFEIMT
HKS$
BTt
HK$'000
TAT
18,936

25,215
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For the year ended March 31, 2012 B Z —F—_—F=A=+—HIFE

Trade and other payables comprise amounts outstanding for trade B ORENER N EMENEEBIEESEE
purchases and ongoing costs. The following is an aged analysis of NI BER AR REEEEE - RIEER 1%
trade and other payables presented based on the invoice date at the BEQHERY B S ENEFT R EMENE
end of the reporting period: BRSO -
2011
=T %
HK$'000
FA&T
0 — 90 days 0 - 90H 1,368,367
91 — 180 days 91 - 180H 220,427
Over 180 days 180HA L 606,434
Trade and bill payables B oM R R EN SRR 2,195,228
Other payables and HAn e TERIB R FERT B A
accrued charges 222,123
Construction fee payables ERNTIREER 263,178
Other tax payables FEAS E AR IE 62,013
Accrued staff costs ZEFETIAA 79,672
Loan interest payables EREZF S 46,659
Deposits received from customers EWEF 2k & 61,271
Advance payments RERF 2 BRGIE
from customers 494,281
Advances received from BErRMABACEHTIE
customers for contract works B UYHE 2 #5k
that have not yet been started 929,962
Amounts due to non-controling  FEA BB A &) FEHE A 25 FE
interests of subsidiaries 69,705
Amounts due to shareholders FEAT HRIVESE R IE
of jointly controlled entities 17,399
Obligation on capital injection PFRARREELATECEE
to Fujian Anran by Zhongmin
Zhongran 23,448
Obligation on acquisition of WREM B R FRE Mg 2 BT
additional interest in a subsidiary  (BFE41A®V))
(note 41A(iv)) 38,095
4,503,034

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED A BIA FIE R A PR A A)



For the year ended March 31, 2012 B Z =

E-——FZ A=+ —ALFE

Included in the amounts due to non-controlling interests of
subsidiaries and shareholders of jointly controlled entities are trade
payables amounting to HK$7,671,000 (2011: HK$3,706,000) and
HK$3,273,000 (2011: HK$3,224,000) respectively. All of the balances
were aged within 90 days based on invoice date and the average

credit period is 90 days.

The non-trade balances of amounts due to non-controlling interests
of subsidiaries and shareholders of jointly controlled entities are
unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

Current

Interest rate range accrual swap

transactions not qualified
for hedge accounting

HH
THE

BIRRIEREHE

FHEREZ

MEHERAERRH

The Group did not have any outstanding derivatives as at March 31,

2012.

Major terms of the outstanding interest rate swap transactions as at

March 31, 2011 were as fol
Notional amount
ZESH

RMB1,750,000,000
in aggregate

o>

7N

AE#1,750,000,0007T

US$100,000,000
in aggregate

o>

At
100,000,000%7T

lows:

Maturity dates
ElEG=

From September 4, 2011
to December 12, 2011

H-E——FNANBZE
—E——F+=ZRA+=H

From June 11, 2011
to June 13, 2011

A=

—FRA+—HE
T——&A+=H

T—
T

Pay leg
K35

6.60% — 6.65%

6.60E £6.652

USD LIBOR + 1.40%

EREERITRE
HEERL A0E

AT AETBT B A B FEIE AR i s I AR I E
BRI RIAE S EMIRKT,671,000

B =—F — — F:3706,0008 T ) &
3,273,000 7L( — & — — & : 3,224,000/8
TL) o FTBARR 2 BREC R B D B 3 B HRE AT
Q0BA - FHEEHIAR0A -

FEASH BT A RISF R AR M 25 I KR 1 ) B A8 A
RARAZFEHEHRAEER 28R
FREFEE o

/
AR

2011
—EF—%F
HK$'000
FET
32,122
RZE——F=A=+—8 ' AEEHET
AIRARZEPTAETA -
R-E——F=A=+—8  RFHFXE
252 FEHEFWT
Receive leg
Weskab s

Relative movement of 2-year,
10-year and 30-year
USD swap rates

2% 10F RB0FEETT
1EHIRR 2 iR

Relative movement of 2-year,
10-year and 30-year
USD swap rates

2% 10F RB0FEETT
1EHIRR 2 iR
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For the year ended March 31, 2012 B Z —F—_—F=A=+—HIFE

The net fair values of the outstanding interest rate transactions
were measured at the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted based on the applicable yield curves derived from quoted
interest rates and quoted spot and forward foreign exchange rate.

On August 6, 2010, the Group acquired 56.33% equity interest of
Zhongyu Gas in which certain convertible bonds issued by Zhongyu
Gas were acquired as part of net assets acquired. The convertible
bonds were fully redeemed in prior year. The derivatives embedded
in the convertible bonds comprised (i) conversion option; and (i) early
redemption option held by Zhongyu Gas. Details are set out in note
39.

During the year ended March 31, 2012, a gain of HK$32,122,000
(2011 a loss of HK$46,083,000) is recognised in respect of the
changes in fair values of derivative financial instruments.

The amount was unsecured, bearing fixed-rate interest at 2% per
annum, originally repayable in year 2013 and denominated in JPY.
During the year ended March 31, 2011, the Group had made the
repayment of HK$355,794,000 and for the remaining balance, the
Group agreed with the non-controlling interest for early repayment
and accordingly, it was classified as a current liability as at March 31,
2011, There is no repayment during the year ended March 31, 2012
and the remaining balance is repayable on demand.

CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED A BIA FIE R A PR A A)

RBER R R 5 7 RN FHE TR IR B A 3
B XGRS AR 2 hEt R KRS
mZBE  ARBEREREERGE -

MNZZ—TENANA - REBREFRBIR
R.256.33%HE - ERETHPBRRET
AR ESIERBA BB EEFE -
AHRESFER E—FEREER - Al RR
EHZHSITETE T RAPRREIEE Z)
BARHE  R()RFEEEEAMNK o sHIBERAMW
FE39M -

HE-_T——FZA=+—HL=FE"
W 2532,122,0008 t( ZF —— F : I8
46,083,000 T ) EBRATTESM T A
NEEEE -

ZHBERAERR  REFNEEFE  RE
NR-B—=FEERNAEE -HE-F
——FZA=Z+—HIEFE AEECEEE
355,794,000/ 7T+ WA IEE R R E R
BEESRT RUBRER_ZT—F=A
= t+t—HOEARDAEE BE_T—=F
—A=+—BHUIFE AEBWEEEETMA
OB BRARESKEGEE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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36. Bank and Other Borrowings 36. RITREMEE
2012 2011
—g--fF —
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET &
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEERE

comprise the followi